Ionization waves in low-temperature plasmas

P. S. Landa, N. A. Miskinova, and Yu. V. Ponomarev

M. V. Lomonosov Moscow State University Usp. Fiz. Nauk 132, 601-637 (December 1980)

The ionizational instability, which results in the excitation of moving and standing striations, is one of the most common instabilities in low-temperature plasmas. Phenomena analogous to striations are encountered not only in a variety of fields in physics but also in related sciences, such as chemistry, biology, and ecology. Striations are thus of general scientific interest. This paper reviews experimental and theoretical research on striations published for the most part over the past decade and thus after the 1968 publication of the reviews by Nedospasov, Pekarek, and Oleson and Cooper. New and more comprehensive scaling laws are used for a systematic description of the regions in which moving and stationary striations exist in inert and molecular gases. From the standpoint of the general theory of oscillations these striations may be thought of as a particular case of a very distinctive wave process with "unusual" properties. It is thus useful to describe the striations by an oscillation approach involving the methods of wave theory. The kinetic theory of striations has been developed markedly in recent years, but the usefulness of the hydrodynamic theory of striations, modified appropriately, has not yet been exhausted, at least with regard to a qualitative explanation of the experimental properties of striations. The linear and nonlinear hydrodynamic theories for the formation of moving and stationary striations at intermediate and high currents, incorporating such factors as the deviation from a Maxwellian electron distribution function, oscillations in the density of metastable atoms, and wave reflection from boundaries, yield several results: the conditions for the spontaneous excitation of striations, the shape of the striations, an explanation for the existence of a striation-free region, an explanation for the excitation of one or several types of striations, confirmation of Novak's rule stating that the potential drop over the length of a striation remains constant, etc. The nonlinearity of the system proves important in the study of such questions as the asynchronous suppression of striations and the excitation of stationary striations in inert and molecular gases.

PACS numbers: 52.35.Py, 52.35.Bj, 52.35.Mw

CONTENTS

Introduction
1. Nature and basic properties of striations
a) Moving striations in inert gases
1) Ionization-diffusion nature of striations
2) Regions in which moving striations exist
3) Shape of the striations near the self-excitation threshold
4) Self-excited-oscillator properties of striations
b) Stationary striations
1) Regions of existence
2) Basic characteristics of stationary striations
2. Theory of moving and stationary striations
a) Basic theoretical premises
b) Conditions for the spontaneous excitation of moving striations at intermediate
and high currents
c) Some problems in the nonlinear theory of moving striations
d) Stationary striations in molecular and inert gases
1) Stationary striations in molecular gases
2) Stationary striations in inert gases
Conclusion
References

INTRODUCTION

The plasma in the positive column of a gas discharge is rarely in a quiet state. There are usually a variety of instabilities, which lead to a stratification of the positive column. The most common instability of a lowtemperature plasma, which leads to the excitation of striations, is the "ionizational instability," and this instability is the subject of the present review. A distinction is made between two types of striations which are of an ionizational nature: moving and stationary. Moving striations are waves of the electron temperature and density which are propagating and growing, as a rule, in the direction from the cathode toward the anode. A distinctive feature of these waves is that their phase velocity is directed opposite to their group velocity (primarily in inert gases). The stationary striations are a special type of wave with zero frequency and a nonzero wave number.

Study of stationary and moving striations began already in the last century.¹⁻³ Many papers have been published on the subject, with a rich store of experimental data, much of which is covered in existing reviews.⁴⁻¹⁰ The derivation of a meaningful theory for the stratification of the positive column of a gas discharge is by comparison a recent development. One of the first papers along this line was that by Druyvesteyn.¹¹

In the history of research on striations we can identify several periods in which there were practical motivations. One was the beginning of the widespread use of gas-discharge tubes. The interest in striations has risen considerably in recent years because of the use of gas-discharge tubes in laser technology.^{10,12-17} The working conditions in the corresponding lasers generally correspond to regions in which striations are excited.

The appearance of striations degrades the operation of discharge devices, and a major effort is accordingly made to prevent their appearance. Success here requires that we learn as much as possible about the nature of the striations and the cause of their appearance. Natural striations arise in a positive column without any external source of periodic perturbations; these natural striations are spontaneous oscillations in a system with distributed parameters. From the standpoint of the general theory of oscillations, the striations may be thought of as a distinctive class of waves whose group velocity is directed opposite to their phase velocity. That such waves could exist in principle was pointed out by Lamb,¹⁸ who invented some mechanical models of one-dimensional media exhibiting this property. Mandel'shtam^{19, 20} found a natural example of media of this type. It turns out that when elastic waves with a frequency comparable to the lattice vibration frequency propagate in a crystal their group and phase velocities are in opposite directions (these are the "optical" branches of the acoustic wave spectrum of a crystal lattice, which were studied by Born).

The striations are not only of applied but also of general scientific interest. Phenomena analogous to striations are encountered in a variety of fields in physics (in hydrodynamics,²¹ geophysics,²² and semiconductor physics,²³⁻²⁵ among others) and in related sciences (chemistry, biology, and ecology).²⁶⁻³⁰ Consequently, the results obtained in research on striations may find widespread applications.

1. NATURE AND BASIC PROPERTIES OF STRIATIONS

a) Moving striations in inert gases

The general properties of moving striations have been described in detail in other reviews,⁴⁻⁶ so we will focus primarily on recent results here.

Moving striations exist over broad ranges of pressure $(10^{-3} - 10^2 \text{ torr})$ and current $(10^{-4} - 10^1 \text{ A})$ in inert and molecular gases, in the vapor of certain metals, and in various mixtures. The striation phase velocity varies over a broad range $(v_{ph} \sim 10^3 - 10^6 \text{ cm/s})$ and is generally directed from the anode toward the cathode in inert gases. The group velocity, v_{gr} , which is comparable in magnitude to the phase velocity, is usually in the opposite direction, and it is for this reason that Pekarek⁵ has called these waves "backward waves." There are cases, however, in which the group velocity is in the same direction as the phase velocity, and these waves are called "forward waves."⁵ Since the excitation of striations is accompanied by oscillations in the intensity of the spontaneous lateral emission,⁶ moving striations can be observed most easily by placing two photodiodes at different points along the axis of the discharge tube. When the signals from these photodiodes are fed to a dual-trace oscilloscope, approximately sinusoidal oscillations are observed on the screen near the threshold for the existence of striations. The length and phase velocity of the striations can be determined from the change in the phase shift of the oscillations which occurs when one of the photodiodes is moved with respect to the other.

Extensive experiments have shown that the characteristics of striations obey scaling laws quite well.³¹⁻³⁴ The scaling laws proposed by Holm³⁵ were the first to be tested. Pupp showed that the product of the striation frequency, the tube radius, and the molecular mass of the gas $(fR\mu)$ was a function of pR/U_1 . Nedospasov⁴ gave the corresponding dependence for He, Ne, Ar, and Kr. Holm's scaling laws, however, do not cover stepwise excitation and ionization, which are important for striation formation.

Not until 1969 were more general scaling laws formulated, on the basis of the Boltzmann equation.³³ These scaling laws can also be used to describe a variety of processes involving binary collisions of particles. An important distinction between these scaling laws, called "B-invariant scaling laws" by Pfau et al.,³³ and those which had been proposed previously by Holm is that the ratio i/R is introduced as an external scaling parameter (in addition to the parameter pR which had been used previously). In addition to the external scaling parameters in the positive column, according to Pfau et al.,³³ there are some internal scaling parameters, such as λ/R , fR, v_{ph} , v_{gr} , ER, T, f/p, and λp . The use of the B-invariant scaling laws substantially simplifies theoretical and experimental study of striations. Figure 1 shows experimental results obtained for neon in Ref. 33 on the basis of the scaling parameters λp , f/p, Ψ/p , pR, and i/R (Ψ is the spatial growth rate of the striations). It can be seen from this figure that the length of the striations usually increases approximately linearly with increasing frequency, while the $\Psi(f)$ dependence is resonant in nature. Similar results are observed in other gases.

1) Ionization—diffusion nature of striations. It has now been firmly established that the striations are of an ionization—diffusion nature. A governing role in the appearance of striations was assigned to ionization and diffusion in papers already in the 1920s and 1930s (Refs. 11 and 36–39). Work by Rother,^{40,41} Wojaczek,⁴² and Pekarek^{5,9,43-45} was important in identifying the mechanism for the appearance and growth of a moving ionization wave.

Using the ambipolar diffusion equation for ions and a phenomenological equation for the electron temperature, and also considering the temperature dependence of the ionization rate, Pekarek showed that the introduction of a pulsed perturbation in the positive column led to an oscillatory process: a so-called stratification wave, with a phase velocity directed from the anode



FIG. 1. Dispersion curves for Ne obtained in tubes of various radii, ³³ plotted in terms of the scaling parameters. R (cm): 1) 0.75; 2) 1.25; 3) 2.02. pR = 2 torr cm. i/R (A/cm): a) 1.67 $\cdot 10^{-3}$; b) 3.3 $\cdot 10^{-3}$.

toward the cathode and a group velocity in the opposite direction. The model proposed by Pekarek, however, suffered from several important shortcomings, which are pointed out accurately in the review by Nedospasov.⁴ Nevertheless, the Pekarek model has been adopted quite widely because it is relatively simple and graphic.⁴⁶⁻⁵⁴

Klyarfel'd⁵⁵ was apparently the first to offer a gualitative explanation for the existence of striations. He asserted that over the length of a striation the electrons acquire an energy sufficient to ionize atoms. Then, as a result of the ionization, a group of slow electrons is formed; moving in the electric field, they also acquire energy; etc. This explanation was not supported experimentally, however, until quite recently. A few recent experimental papers⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ report measurements of the electron energy distribution which are consistent with Klyarfel'd's interpretation of the existence of striations. The most graphic results are those of Ref. 56, where the perturbation of the electron distribution function is plotted as a function of the phase of the wave for small-amplitude striations in neon. It follows from these figures that there is a group of electrons with an energy which increases with changing phase, up to a level near the ionization of excitation potential (depending on the type of striation). This "hump" on the distribution function moves toward higher energies. Then this group of electrons expends its energy on ionization or excitation, and the distribution function acquires a low-energy hump. Then the process repeats itself periodically. This picture is observed for all types of striations at low currents. Near the current representing the upper boundary for the existence of striations (the Pupp boundary) the distribution function is monotonic, and here the existence of striations can be explainted on the basis of hydrodynamic arguments, by analogy with Refs. 5, 42, and 59, for example.

According to these arguments, the ionization waves result primarily from a dependence of the ionization rate on the electron temperature and density. Because of plasma quasineutrality (the striation wavelength is much larger than the Debye length) the variation of the electron density in the positive column is described by an ambipolar diffusion equation with a source corresponding to the ionization rate. The electron temperature enters this equation through the ionization rate; this temperature is related to the density by the heatbalance equation, which incorporates heat convection, Joule heating, the thermal conductivity of the electrons, and the collisional energy loss. These equations must be supplemented with Ohm's law, which relates the electric field to the current.

Let us consider the basic processes which make possible the propagation of an ionization wave in the positive column. The characteristics of this wave are such that the relative change in the electron density is determined primarily by diffusion to the tube wall and by the temperature dependence of the ionization rate. The corresponding equation for a small deviation of the density from its steady-state value is

$$\frac{\partial N}{\partial t} = \frac{Z_T}{\tau_{\rm n}} U,\tag{1}$$

where N and U are the relative deviations of the electron density and temperature from their steady-state values (n_0, T_0) , z_T is the logarithmic derivative of the ionization frequency with respect to the temperature, and τ_n is the electron lifetime with respect to diffusion to the walls.

The electron energy transport by thermal conductivity is basically balanced by the change in Joule heating; i.e.,

$$\gamma \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x^2} = -KW, \qquad (2)$$

where W is the relative deviation of the field from its steady-state value E_0 , γ is the thermal conductivity, $K = v(n_0 T_0)$, and v is the electron drift velocity.

In turn, it follows from the constancy of the current that $W = (T_0/E_0) \partial N/\partial x$, i.e.,

$$\gamma \, \frac{\partial U}{\partial x} = -K \, \frac{T_0}{E_0} \, N \,. \tag{3}$$

Differentiating (1) with respect to the coordinate, and using (2), we find a closed equation for N:

$$\gamma \, \frac{\partial^2 N}{\partial t \, \partial x} = - \, K \, \frac{T_0 Z_T}{E_0 \tau_0} \, N \, .$$

This equation describes a travelling wave with a phase velocity equal in magnitude to the group velocity but opposite in direction.

From (1)-(3) we conclude that the oscillations of the field and the electron temperature are in phase, while that of the electron density is shifted a quarter-wave-length in the direction of the anode (the positive direction of the x axis is from the cathode toward the anode; Fig. 2).

To describe the excitation of ionization waves we must examine in greater detail the events which occur in the plasma of the positive column. It turns out that a necessary condition for the excitation of ionization waves is a dependence of the ionization frequency on the electron density, which results, for example, from stepwise processes. Other processes—ambipolar diffusion, heat conduction, and convection—damp the ionization waves.

2) Regions in which moving striations exist. Moving striations have been studied in most detail in pure inert gases: neon, $^{33, 60-64}$ argon, $^{64-66}$ and helium. $^{64, 67, 68}$ Recently there has been much interest in striations in



FIG. 2. Profiles of the electron density (N), the electron temperature (U), and the electric field (W) along the positive column.

helium-neon mixtures, which are frequently used in lasers.^{10,14,16,17,67-83}

The positive column has similar properties in inert gases and in their mixtures. The striations exist over broad ranges of the pressure and the current below the Pupp boundary. Figure 3 shows the boundaries for the existence of striations in neon according to Ref. 33; a similar picture is observed for argon.⁶⁴ For these gases there is a stratification-free region at low pressures and intermediate currents. This region also exists in helium-neon mixtures. The dimensions and configuration of this region are very sensitive to the mixture composition ($\alpha = p_{He}: p_{Ne}$) and to the length of the discharge $gap^{16,17}$ (L; Fig. 4). We see from Fig. 4 that the addition of helium to neon expands the stratification-free region and displaces it toward lower pressures and higher currents. At $\alpha = 7$ we can observe a lower boundary for the excitation of striations (curve aa in Fig. 4a). As α is increased, the lower boundary shifts upward along the pressure scale, and the boundary of the striation-free region (curve b-b) shifts downward. When these boundaries come together, the shape of the striation-free region changes qualitatively. For pure helium the left-hand boundary of the striation-free region is not observed, since it goes into the region in which the discharge is extinguished. With increasing length of the discharge tube the stratification-free region becomes narrower (Figs. 4b and 4c).

Only one type of striation is observed near the Pupp boundary, but at low and intermediate currents we can distinguish four types of striations^{5,64,84}: the p, r, s, and s' types. Each has a characteristic voltage drop over the length of the striation, $U_{\lambda} = \lambda E$, which varies only slightly with the discharge conditions (the Novak rule).⁸⁵ Zaïtsev and Savchenko³⁴ have studied three types of spontaneously excited striations (p, r, and s)in neon and two types (p and s) in argon over the pressure range pR = 0.45-36 torr \cdot cm and over the current



FIG. 3. Boundaries of the regions in which moving striations exist in Ne (Ref. 33). 1) Striation excitation region; II) region of quiet discharge; Ia, IIa) regions of contracted column.



FIG. 4. Boundaries of the regions in which moving striations exist in a helium-neon mixture as a function of the mixture ratio α and the length of the discharge gap, L (the hatching shows the striation excitation region).¹⁶ a: L = 10 cm, $\alpha = 7$ (1), 10 (2), and 15 (3). b: $\alpha = 7$, L(cm) = 3 (1), 6 (2), 9 (3), and 15 (4). c: $\alpha = 10$, pR (torr cm) = 3 (1), 4.5 (2), and 6 (3).

range $i/R = 10^{-2} - 2$ A/cm. As a rule, the different types of moving striations exist independently; for a given value of pR, the striations with lower values of U_{λ} are observed at lower currents.³⁴ At the transition from one type of striation to another, two types of spontaneously excited striations may exist simultaneously.^{34,86} The properties of the striations of different types change in different ways as functions of the current and the pressure. The frequency and phase velocity of the p and s' striations increase with increasing current, while those of the r and s striations decrease.⁸⁴

3) Shape of the striations near the self-excitation threshold. The moving striations observed near the self-excitation boundary can be described approximately as a superposition of two components: a travelling wave (an ionization wave proper) which is growing in the direction from the cathode toward the anode and an in-phase component caused by the modulation of the discharge current. This effect can be seen in Fig. 5, which shows the most typical distribution of the intensity (1) of the spontaneous lateral emission at the fundamental frequency of the striations.¹⁾ This distribution can be found by setting

$$N = Ae^{\Psi x} \cos\left(\Omega t + Kx\right) + C\cos\left(\Omega t + \varphi\right), \quad I \sim \sqrt{N^2} \quad (4)$$

The in-phase component leads to a spatial modulation of the emission with a period equal to the length of the moving wave. The relative amplitude of this modulation falls off with distance from the cathode. At a cer-

¹⁾ Analogous distributions are given in Refs. 68-70 and 87.



FIG. 5. Profile of the intensity of the spontaneous lateral emission along the x coordinate for a helium-neon mixture.⁶³

tain distance from the cathode the intensity I goes through a minimum, at a position which is determined by the spatial growth rate Ψ (Ref. 87). It follows from (4) that the minimum occurs at the coordinate $x_0 \approx (1/\Psi) \ln(C/A)$; here $x_0 > 0$ if C > A. Since the ratio C/Ais determined solely by the boundary conditions at x = 0, the position of the minimum can be used to draw certain conclusions about these boundary conditions.

At sufficiently low currents (to the left of the striation-free region) the distribution has a different shape (Fig. 6). This shape can be explained qualitatively by describing the striations as a sum of three components: two travelling waves, with wave numbers differing by an order of magnitude, and an in-phase component:

 $N = Ae^{\Psi x} \cos \left(\Omega t + Kx\right) + Be^{\Psi_1 x} \cos \left(\Omega t + K_1 x + \varphi_1\right) + C \cos \left(\Omega t + \varphi_2\right). (5)$

As we shall see below, this description is completely justified.

With increasing distance from the self-excitation boundary the spatial growth of the travelling component of the striations intensifies and becomes nonlinear. At a certain distance from the cathode the amplitude of the travelling component reaches saturation. After saturation is reached, the striations have a definitely nonsinusoidal shape. It should be noted that the generation of the striations is single-mode generation (with harmonics) over a broad current range. This circumstance can apparently be attributed to a strong mode competition in the positive column as a result of the nonlinear interaction among modes. Well away from the excitation boundary the single-mode generation gives way to multimode generation and becomes turbulent.



FIG. 6. Profile of the intensity of the sponaneous lateral emission along the x coordinate for a helium-neon mixture at low currents.



FIG. 7. Frequency dependence of the intensity of the noise component of the discharge current near the excitation threshold for a helium-neon mixture. $\alpha = 7$, pR = 0.4 torr cm, i = 2.5 mA, R = 0.15 cm, L = 11 cm. The dashed curve shows the calculation for the intensity of stimulated striations for the same parameter values.

4) Self-excited-oscillator properties of striations. Study of the striation properties show that the positive column is a distributed self-excited-oscillator system with a pronounced nonlinearity. One of the main arguments on which this assertion is based is the mode structure of the striations. Near the excitation boundary, before the conditions for self-excitation have been satisfied, there is an increase in the noise level in the positive column. The amplified noise has the resonant structure shown in Fig. 7. The distance between adjacent peaks, Δf , is a characteristic of a given tube. In the low-frequency part of the spectrum we can also observe an amplified noise at the frequency Δf , which implies pronounced nonlinear properties of the positive column. As the self-excitation boundary is approached, the intensity of each noise component increases. An analogous resonant structure of the noise was observed in Ref. 76.

The stimulated striations also have a mode structure, which can be seen near the self-excitation boundary. The frequency dependence of the amplitude of the stimulated striations is of the same form as that for the noise (Fig. 7). With increasing distance from the self-excitation boundary, the relative width of the peaks increases, and the peaks fade away. If the external agent has a high amplitude, the peaks become asymmetric (Fig. 8), acquiring a shape similar to that of the resonance curves for an oscillator circuit with a nonlinear capacitance.⁸⁸



FIG. 8. Dependence of the amplitude of the stimulated current oscillations on the frequency of the external agent near the frequency of the natural striations.⁵¹



FIG. 9. Dependence of the frequency and wavelength of the moving striations on the length of the positive column.⁷⁰ R = 1.75 mn, $\alpha = 10$, p = 3 torr.

The self-excited striations also exhibit a mode structure. It was mentioned in Refs. 6 and 73, for example, that a change in the length of the positive column leads to an abrupt change in the frequency and the wavelength of the striations, with a period roughly equal to the average wavelength (Fig. 9). The frequency and wavelength of the striations change discontinuously as the discharge current is changed (see Fig. 10 and Refs. 6, 9, 67, 73, and 89). At a discontinuity, more structure appears in the spectrum of the discharge current and of the lateral spontaneous emission. The spectral components are separated by a frequency interval Δf which corresponds to the distance between the peaks in the noise spectrum in Fig. 7 and to a shift of the striation frequency at the time of the discontinuity. The quantity Δf depends on the discharge current, the length of the discharge gap, and the gas composition.²⁾ In a given tube, for example, a change in the length from 18 to 38 cm causes an inversely proportional change in Δf from 57 to 25 kHz.

In distributed self-excited oscillators the boundary loss causes the self-excitation conditions to become dependent on the length of the system. The same effect is observed upon the excitation of striations, as can be seen in the dependence of the dimensions of the striation-free region on the length of the positive column (Fig. 4c). The reason for this dependence is that the boundary growth rate of the striations decreases with increasing length.

Figure 11 shows the striation growth rate as a function of the current (in the stratification-free region,



FIG. 10. Dependence of the frequency of the moving striations on the discharge current.^{??} $\alpha = 6$, p = 2.8 torr, R = 0.9 mm, L = 20 cm.



FIG. 11. Dependence of the striation growth rate Ψ on the discharge current. $\alpha = 15$, pR = 0.3 torr cm. 1) L = 10.2 cm; 2) L = 14.1 cm. The dashed curve corresponds to stimulated striations.

the growth rate was measured for stimulated striations, and the results are shown by the dashed part of the curve). Interestingly, the growth rates are different near the left-hand and right-hand boundaries of the striation-free region: A lower growth rate is required for self-excitation of striations on the left than on the right.

Any self-excited oscillator must have feedback. In the case of striations the feedback question is a complicated one. It has been asserted in many papers that the feedback occurs through the external circuit, i.e., through the discharge power supply.^{46,83} However, many attempts to suppress striations by inserting a variety of filters in the power-supply circuit have resulted in only a negligible shift of the self-excitation boundary.⁹⁰ The implication is that there may be an internal feedback in the discharge which leads to the existence of regular striations. This possibility was pointed out, in particular, by Pekarek,⁵ but the question of the nature of this internal feedback was left open. A theoretical case for the existence of internal feedback was made in Refs. 91 and 92.

Other indications that the striations are of the nature of a self-excited oscillator are such effects as the synchronization of striations by an external agent,⁹³ the mutual synchronization of striations in tubes with two discharge gaps,⁷⁷ the asynchronous suppression of striations by an external agent,^{51, 86, 94} the asynchronous suppression of striations of one type by striations of another type,^{86, 94} etc.

An external agent at frequencies near the frequency of spontaneous striations causes a synchronization of these striations; i.e., the frequency of the external agent is imposed on the striations. The width of the synchronous region depends on the amplitude of the external agent. This synchronization effect is used, in particular, to find the dispersion characteristics of striations in their excitation region.³¹

Asynchronous suppression of striations can be seen in a decrease in their amplitude in the case of an external agent at a frequency far from resonance. This external agent may be, for example, a modulation of the discharge current, an external rf field, relaxation oscillations in the discharge, or striations of a different type. Beginning at a certain amplitude of the external agent there is a complete suppression of the stria-

²⁾ For pure helium the frequency jumps are not observed as the discharge current is changed.⁶⁷

tions because of a "synchronization by extinction" similar to that which occurs in lumped self-excited oscillators.^{95,96} The asynchronous suppression of striations accompanying the insertion of an oscillator in the discharge circuit was first observed by two groups simultaneously: Zaitsev *et al.* (see Ref. 97) and Ohe and Takeda.⁵¹ Ohe and Takeda⁵¹ described the dependence of the striation amplitude on the amplitude of the external agent for various frequencies. This dependence is nonmonotonic, so they adopted as the threshold for the striation suppression that amplitude of the external agent which was found by extrapolating the descending part of the dependence.

More careful experiments on this asynchronous suppression were carried out by Zaitsev, Il'inskii, and Savchenko.^{86,94} At a certain amplitude of the external agent they obtained a complete suppression of moving striations over a broad frequency range. Figure 12 shows the dependence of the threshold value of this amplitude (in arbitrary units) on the frequency of the external agent. Zaitsev *et al.* also studied the suppression of striations of one type by striations of a different type.^{86,94} They observed an important distinction from the case of external modulation of the discharge current.

The asynchronous suppression can be seen most clearly in the expansion of the striation-free region. Experiments of this type were carried out for a heliumneon mixture by Zakharchenko and Privalov, who measured the boundaries of the striation-free region as a function of the amplitude of an rf field applied to the discharge (Fig. 13).

b) Stationary striations

1) Regions of existence. Under certain discharge conditions a homogenously emitting positive column will transform into alternating dark and bright regions (layers), which sometimes differ in color. These are stationary striations. In molecular gases they are usually visible over a substantial part of the positive column, while in inert gases they are rapidly damped and are difficult to observe.

Stationary striations were studied experimentally and described far earlier than moving striations, since they could be observed without any special stroboscopic apparatus. Nevertheless, there has been essentially no



FIG. 12. Experimental dependence of the threshold value of the modulation frequency.³⁴ pR = 1.7 torr cm, R = 1.5 cm, $i/R = 6.67 \cdot 10^{-3}$ A/cm.



FIG. 13. Dependence of the size of the striation-free region in a helium-neon mixture, with $\alpha = 10$, on the peak voltage from the rf oscillator. 1) L = 6 cm; 2) L = 8 cm.

systematic classification of the experimental data available. The coverage of stationary striations in the reviews by Nedospasov, Pekarek, and Oleson and Cooper⁴⁻⁶ was quite brief.

We do know that stationary striations are observed over broad ranges of discharge conditions and have an appreciable amplitude in molecular gases (hydrogen, nitrogen, air, etc.) and in mixtures of inert gases and molecular gases.^{55,98-102} Stationary striations may also exist in discharges in pure inert gases,^{43,50,103-107} but here they are slightly different from the stationary striations in molecular gases. While a large number of stationary striations of identical amplitude (or with an amplitude which falls off slightly toward the anode) may form in molecular gases, in inert gases one usually observes several (from two to six) stationary striations on the cathode side of the positive column which are rapidly damped in the direction toward the anode.

Stationary striations may be observed either in the presence of moving striations or in their absence. An understanding of the regions in which stationary striations exist and of their properties is of practical importance because lasers using molecular gases and their mixtures have recently found widespread use. Kagan and Mitrofanov¹⁰⁸ report that a stratified positive column in a molecular gas exhibits a macroscopic instability under certain conditions. The instability takes the form of either a slow spontaneous motion of the stratified positive column toward the anode (at a velocity on the order of 1 cm/min) or slow longitudinal oscillations of the column as a whole. The instability causes slow, synchronized changes in the plasma potential in each cross section of the column. These changes in potential in turn cause oscillations of the electron density and temperature and thus oscillations of the laser output power.

The regions in which stationary striations exist are complicated in shape (as they are for the moving striations). These regions are reported for hydrogen and oxygen in Ref. 5 (for example); Fig. 14 shows the regions for nitrogen according to Ref. 99. Comparison of the regions in which stationary and moving striations exist show that the stationary striations are generally observed at lower pressures and lower currents.

The stratification pattern of the positive column is apparently most distinctive in the case of hydrogen.



FIG. 14. Region in which stationary striations exist.⁹⁹ 1) Sharp stationary striations; 2) "blurry" stationary striation.

For hydrogen there are typically at least two types of stationary striations, which differ markedly in properties, in particular, their color; they have been labelled "red" and "blue" striations. According to Ref. 11, the blue striations are observed at relatively low values of pR. The visual shapes of the triations in hydrogen are also different (ranging from flat disks to cones), and they may even have a double structure. In nitrogen the sharpest stationary striations exist at currents of the order of 10 mA and $pR \sim 0.5$ torr cm. Here the stationary striations are usually orange disks which are slightly convex toward the cathode.⁹⁹

Research by Klyarfel' d^{55} has substantially extended our understanding of the discharge properties for which stationary striations may be observed. According to Ref. 55, stationary striations may exist in hydrogen (for example) over a range of gas pressures amounting to four orders of magnitude (up to 1 atm) and over a range of current densities amounting to eight orders of magnitude (up to 300 A/cm²), in discharge tubes of a broad range of diameters, down to capillaries with a diameter of the order of 0.1 mm.

There has been essentially no systematic study of the regions in which stationary striations exist in inert gases. An exception to this statement is represented by Ružička's report¹⁰⁹ of some data on neon (Fig. 15). We see from this figure that stationary striations occur in neon primarily in a region in which there are no moving striations (at currents in the range 1-10 mA and at pressures in the range 0.1-1 torr). Karelina and Klyarfel'd¹⁰⁵ have observed damped stationary striations in helium, neon, and argon in roughly the same current and pressure ranges; these striations have also been observed^{106,107} at lower pressures (down to 10^2 torr) and higher currents (up to 100 mA).



FIG. 15. Region in which stationary striations exist in neon.¹⁰⁹ The curve with the hatching is the boundary for the excitation of moving striations.

The discrepancies in the results reported on the regions in which stationary striations exist can be attributed to at least two circumstances: First, the formation of stationary striations is aided considerably by the presence of even a very small molecular or other impurity. Second, as shown in Ref. 55, the excitation of stationary striations, particularly in inert gases, is strongly affected by the boundary conditions at the electrodes and by various inhomogeneities in the column: a narrowing or flaring of the discharge tube, probes held at any potential, an imposed transverse magnetic field, etc.¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹²

2) Basic characteristics of stationary striations. From the point of view of determining the nature of stationary striations we are obviously interested in the ranges which their properties (their length λ and the spatial damping factor Ψ) may occupy, depending on the discharge conditions. The dependence of λ on the pressure and the current in molecular gases has been the subject of many studies, but almost no information is available on the values of Ψ . The length of the sharp stationary striations in molecular gases has been measured quite thoroughly. Generalizing from the data, we can draw the following conclusions:

a) The length of the stationary striations is of the order of the tube radius and falls off with increasing current, approaching a constant limit.^{99-102,113}

b) The length of the stationary striations falls off with increasing pressure and with decreasing radius in accordance with the empirical $law^{100} \lambda (pR)^m/R = const$, where *m* is less than unity and depends on the nature of the gas.

In inert gases the stationary striations are usually much longer than in molecular gases, and their length is several times their diameter, especially at low pressures. For example, in neon at p = 0.05 torr at a current of 200 mA in a tube 7.5 cm in diameter, the stationary striations reach a length of 20 cm, while in hydrogen with roughly the same discharge conditions the length is 8 cm. In inert gases, in contrast with molecular gases, the length of the stationary striations increases with increasing current. There is also an increase in their spatial damping factor (see Fig. 16, which shows data obtained by Zaitsev and Savchenko). A molecular-gas admixture in the inert gas causes the stationary striations to become shorter; the effect is greater, the larger the admixture.^{114,115} In most gases



FIG. 16. Dependence of the spatial growth rate Ψ and the length λ of stationary striations in neon on the current *i*. pR = 1.6 torr cm, R = 1.825 cm (data furnished by I. A. Savchenko).

$$p = 0.5 \text{ torr}$$

 $p = 0.4 \text{ torr}$
 $p = 0.4 \text{ torr}$

FIG. 17. Shape of the stationary striations in nitrogen.^{49,50} The curves are labeled with the gas pressure. L = 39.4 cm, i = 10 mA (the cathode is on the right).

the length of the stationary striations is slightly less than that of the moving striations.

The pressure dependence of the damping factor for the stationary striations was studied in Refs. 49 and 50 for nitrogen at a current of 10 mA (Fig. 17). It was found that the damping of the stationary striations increases substantially as the pressure is raised from 0.4 to 0.6 torr.

Many investigators 49,50,55,106,107 have mentioned that the striation nearest the cathode is slightly different from all the others; it is not only sharper but also the longest.

If the damping of the striations is slight, they exhibit a mode nature as the length of the discharge tube is varied: The number of striations changes aburptly by one at a certain $point^{116}$ (Fig. 18).

The stratified structure of the positive column which can be seen in its inhomogeneous emission, both visually and with photomultipliers, 109,112 should also be reflected in an inhomogeneity of properties of the column such as the potential, the field, and the electron temperature and density. The first probe measurements along this line were carried out in hydrogen by Paul¹¹⁷ and, later, by Boyd and Twiddy.⁸ Similar measurements have been carried out by a microwave method.¹¹³ The use of the probe method to study stationary striations has the disadvantage that a change in the probe potential may lead to changes in the properties of the striations themselves, as has already been pointed out.¹⁰⁵ It is for this reason that the results of Refs. 113 and 117 are slightly different. The experimental results show that the electron density and temperature and also the intensity of the lateral spontaneous emission vary along a striation, and there is a phase shift between the variations in these properties. The phase shift between the density and the temperature varia-



FIG. 18. Dependence of the length of the stationary striations on the distance between the electrodes (rf discharge in neon).¹¹⁶ p = 1.8 torr, R = 1.55 cm, $j = 3 \cdot 10^{-3}$ A/cm².

tions, for example, ranges from $(3/4)\pi$ to π , according to different investigators.

2. THEORY OF MOVING AND STATIONARY STRIATIONS

a) Basic theoretical premises

The best-developed theory of striations is the linear hydrodynamic theory, which uses a dispersion relation to explain the possible growth of moving striations. The development of this theory began in papers by Prudkovskaya¹¹⁸ and Rother^{40,41} and was continued by Wojaczek,⁴² Nedospasov,^{4,119,120} and Tsendin.⁵⁹

As mentioned earlier, the starting points in the hydrodynamic theory of striations for high currents are the ambipolar diffusion equation for the electron density n, the heat-balance equation for the electrons, and Ohm's law. It is assumed that the density of metastable atoms, m, can keep up with changes in the electron density. At intermediate currents (this region is defined below) the time for establishing the metastable-atom density is comparable to that for the electron density; i.e., the relationship between them ceases to be algebraic.

We write these equations in the form^{4,59}

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} - \nabla \left(D_{\mathbf{a}} \nabla n \right) - \gamma_{1} \nabla \left(n \nabla T \right) - n v \mu_{1} \nabla \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathbf{e}}} \right) = n Z \left(n, m, T \right),$$

$$\frac{\partial m}{\partial t} - D_{\mathbf{m}} \Delta m = n P \left(n, m, T \right),$$

$$\frac{3}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(n T \right) - \zeta v n \nabla T - \gamma \nabla \left(\mu_{\mathbf{e}} n T \nabla T \right) + n v E + n H \left(n, T \right) = 0,$$

$$\mathbf{j} = -e n v = e n \mu_{\mathbf{e}} \left(E - \frac{T}{n} \nabla n - \gamma_{1} \nabla T \right),$$
(6)

where μ_{\bullet} and μ_{I} are the electron and ion mobilities; $D_a = \mu_1 T$ is the ambipolar diffusion coefficient; T is the electron temperature in electron volts; D_m is the diffusion coefficient of the metastable atoms; E is the longitudinal component of the electric field; v is the electron drift velocity; j is the current density; ζ, γ, γ_1 are kinetic coefficients which depend on the electron energy distribution; e is the electron charge; H(n, T) is the energy lost by an electron in the course of a collision; and the functions $Z(n, m, T) = Z_{0\infty} + (m/n_g)Z_{m\infty}$ and $P(n, m, T) = Z_{0m} - (m/n_g)(Z_{m0} + Z_{m\infty})$ describe the formation of ions and of metastable atoms $(Z_{0m}, Z_{m0}, Z_{0\infty},$ and $Z_{m\infty}$ are the frequencies of excitation, decay, direct ionization, and stepwise ionization; and $n_{\rm F}$ is the density of neutral atoms in their ground state). Volume recombination of electrons is usually ignored in research on striations.

The frequencies of processes in which ions and metastable atoms are formed depend exponentially on the electron temperature and are sensitive to the shape of the tail of the distribution function. A non-Maxwellian tail leads to a dependence of these frequencies on the electron density.⁴²

In the first equation in (6) there are, in addition to the term describing the ambipolar diffusion, a thermodiffusion term and a term which results from the temperature dependence of the electron mobility. The diffusion of metastable atoms is incorporated in the second equation in (6). These terms, however, have negligible effects on all the processes discussed below. The third equation—the heat-balance equation—incorporates the convection and thermal conductivity of the electron gas and also the energy lost by electrons in collisions with atoms. Because of the high mobility of electrons ($\mu_{\bullet} \gg \mu_1$) at the frequencies characteristic of striations we can ignore the term $\partial(nT)/\partial t$ in this equation.¹¹⁹

The stability of the positive column is usually analyzed in the one-dimensional approximation. The wall effects are taken into account by introducing diffusive lifetimes for electrons, $\tau_n = (R/\beta)^2/D_a$, and for metastable atoms, $\tau_m = (R/\beta)^2/D_m(\beta \approx 2.4)$, these linearized dimensional effects⁵⁹ has shown that the differences from the results of the one-dimensional theory reduce to a negligible increase in the effective thermal conductivity of the electron gas and to a negligible dependence of the stepwise-ionization frequency on the tube radius.

Without taking into account the inconsequential terms which we have just discussed, Eqs. (6) take the following form in the one-dimensional approximation:

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(D_{a} \frac{\partial n}{\partial x} \right) = n \left(Z(n, m, T) - \frac{1}{\tau_{n}} \right),$$

$$\frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = nP(n, m, T) - \frac{m}{\tau_{m}},$$

$$\zeta v \frac{\partial T}{\partial x} + \gamma \frac{\mu_{e}}{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(nT \frac{\partial T}{\partial x} \right) = vE + H(n, T),$$

$$j = -env = en\mu_{e} \left(E - \frac{T}{n} \frac{\partial n}{\partial x} - \gamma_{1} \frac{\partial T}{\partial x} \right).$$
(7)

It follows from the second equation in system (7) and the form of the function P(n, m, T) that the lifetime of the metastable atoms is determined not only by diffusion to the walls but also by the disappearance of these atoms with in the volume as a result of deexcitation and stepwise ionization. We can thus introduce an effective lifetime of the metastable atoms, $\tau_{m eff}$ = $[(1/\tau_m) + (n_0/n_g)(Z_{m0} + Z_{m\infty})]^{-1}$, which depends significantly on the discharge current. Specifically, τ_{metf} decreases with increasing current, varying over a broad range. In this connection, the overall current range in which striations can exist is conveniently partitioned into three regions: 1) high currents, $\tau_n \gg \tau_{m \text{ eff}}$; 2) intermediate currents, $\tau_n \lesssim \tau_m$ off $\ll \tau_m$; 3) low currents, $\tau_{m \text{ eff}} \sim \tau_{m}$. The mechanism for the instability of the positive column has distinctive features in each of these regions. At high and intermediate currents the density of metastable atoms is near the saturation level and is only a weak function of the current. At low currents the density of metastable atoms increases with increasing current.

The hydrodynamic approximation in the theory of striations presupposes that a local electron energy distribution is established in the positive column as a result of elastic collisions of electrons. If electron-electron collisions are predominant over electron-atom collisions, the "body" of the distribution function is Maxwellian up to energies below the excitation potential U_a . At energies of the order of and higher than U_a there may be important deviations from a Maxwellian distribution.^{108,121} The reason is that at energies of the order of or higher than U_a electron-electron collisions

become less effective, and inelastic and elastic electron-atom collisions and the interaction of electrons with the electric field come into play. If the average electron energy is significantly lower than the atomic excitation potential U_{a} , most of the electrons will have an energy $U < U_{*}$, and the distribution function will be approximately Maxwellian.⁴² In this case the distribution of high-energy electrons has a minor effect on the thermodynamic properties. These high-energy electrons do, on the other hand, play a major role in the excitation and ionization of atoms and thus in the excitation of the ionization wave. The deviation from a Maxwellian shape in the tail of the distribution function gives rise to a nonlinear dependence of the ionization rate on the electron density, even when stepwise processes are ignored. Alanakyan^{122,123} has used kinetic equations with only direct ionization to derive a simple expression for determining the quantity $\partial Z/\partial n$ from the measured distribution function for short wavelengths $(\lambda \ll 2\pi T_0/E_0)$. Analyzing the stability of the positive column for the case in which there is a perturbation of the electron distribution function, Alanakyan showed that this perturbation, if small, would lead to no effects other than the appearance of an n dependence of Z.

It can be concluded from the results found by Alanakyan^{122,123} and Wojaczek⁴² that the hydrodynamic approach is valid in the case of a local electron energy distribution if we take into account the additional dependence of the rates at which electrons and metastable atoms appear and disappear on the electron density a dependence which results from the distortion of the tail of the distribution function.

Since the frequency of electron-electron collisions falls off with decreasing current, the hydrodynamic approximation should fail at low currents. According to estimates graciously furnished us by Tsendin, the current range in which the hydrodynamic approximation is not valid is determined by the condition $(i/R)(p/E)^3$ $\langle BRp$, where $B = 7 \cdot 10^{-3}$ for Ne and $1 \cdot 10^{-3}$ for Ar. Even in this region, however (within a reasonable distance from this boundary), the hydrodynamic equations are still valuable for a study of striations, as will be shown below. They yield a rather comprehensive qualitative-and frequently quantitative-picture of nearly all known phenomena by comparatively simple methods. Among these phenomena are the growth and excitation of various types of striations, both moving and stationary; the steady-state generation of striations; the nonlinear interaction of striations of various types; and the synchronization of striations by an external agent.

There has recently been an acceleration of work based on the kinetic theory of striations, in which the plasma is described by the ambipolar diffusion equation for the electron energy distribution.

The first papers to use kinetic equations to explain the striations were by Vlasov,¹²⁴ who derived periodic solutions of the equations of a collisionless plasma (the Vlasov equations). Vlasov's papers have been justly criticized by Klimontovich¹²⁵ and Klyarfel'd⁵⁵; this criticism is included in the review by Nedospasov.⁴

A kinetic approach is a fundamental necessity at low electron densities, at which electron-electron collisions are of minor importance, and a local energy distribution cannot be established over either time or space. This case has been studied by a Czechoslovak group.^{84,126-129} In the absence of electron-electron collisions and neglecting the energy loss by electrons in elastic collisions with atoms, the perturbations of the distribution function turn out to be spatially nonlocal. Solution of the Boltzmann equations for perturbations of the electric field with a wavelength λ has shown that nonlocal effects are most apparent at the "resonant" wavelengths $\lambda_0 = U_a/qE$, where q = 1, 2, ... As a result, there is an additional spatial phase shift between the perturbations of the electron density and the electric field at these resonant wavelengths. Taking into account these effects in a study of the stability of the positive column should lead to discontinuities in the dispersion curves.¹²⁷ Since the highest growth rate corresponds to resonant wavelengths, we believe that an explanation has been found for the empirical law that the characteristic potential is constant for each type of striation (the Novak rule).⁵ The results of Refs. 84 and 126-129 raise doubts since there is no experimental confirmation of any kind of the existence of sharp changes in the nature of the dependence of the frequency and the damping of ionization waves near the optimum wave numbers, by analogy with the results in Ref. 127.

The possibility of a nonmonotonic wave-number dependence of the temporal growth rate was also mentioned by Alanakyan,¹³⁰ who suggested that the processes having the greatest effect on the distribution function were both elastic and inelastic collisions of electrons with atoms and the interaction of electrons with the electric field. The growth rate reaches maxima at wavelengths λ_0 satisfying the condition λ_0 $=(U_1 - U_1)/E(0, 8+q)$, where q = 0, 1, ...; and U_1 is the ionization potential. The sharpness and height of these resonances, however, were not determined by Alanakyan. In Ref. 131 a kinetic approach was taken to explain experiments on stimulated striations in argon at low pressures (0.005-0.03 torr). Justification for this approach comes from the circumstance that the distortion of the tail of the distribution function becomes important at such low electron densities. The distinction between the hydrodynamic and kinetic results found in this paper, however, is simply a quantitative distinction. For example, kinetic-theory calculations yield phase shifts between the electric field, the ionization rate (the intensity of the lateral spontaneous emission), and the electron density which are in better agreement with experiment. This result again demonstrates that it is valid and worthwhile to use the simpler hydrodynamic theory to derive a qualitative picture of events.

The hydrodynamic approximation is apparently not suitable for calculating the shape of the sharp striations, since the shape of the electron distribution function varies substantially over the length of a striation.^{57,58} At the head of a striation there is a particularly pronounced deformation of the distribution function, and there is a group of fast electrons. These effects were considered by Nedospasov and Petrov,¹³² who used kinetic equations to study the structure of the potential drop at the boundary between two striations and found the distribution of the electron density and average energy over the length of a discontinuity and also the distribution function. The calculated results are in satisfactory agreement with experiment.⁵⁸

So far the kinetic theory has not had any major successes, because of its complexity. At the same time, as we have shown in this review, the capabilities of the simpler hydrodynamic theory are far from exhausted. One purpose of this review is to summarize a definite stage in the development of striation theory and to show that it is still not necessary to discard the hydrodynamic approximation completely.

b) Conditions for the spontaneous excitation of moving striations at intermediate and high currents

The theory of Refs. 91, 92, and 133-139 can be used to determine the conditions for spontaneous excitation of striations. This theory differs from that customarily used to study plasma stability¹⁴⁰ in that it incorporates the reflection of waves at the boundaries. Fundamentally different results are found in many cases. The reason for this difference is as follows: In the ordinary linear theory of stability, a perturbation which is harmonic along a coordinate is specified, and the wave frequency and damping rate are calculated. If the damping rate turns out to be negative, it is concluded that the plasma is unstable and that waves are excited. On the other hand, we know¹⁴¹ that if a system is convectively unstable then this instability means only that a wave may grow-not that it is excited. A correct resolution of the excitation question requires a consideration of the absorption and reflection of waves at the plasma boundaries. When these effects are taken into account, the wave number becomes complex near the excitation boundary, so that the damping rate may change substantially. It is the reflected wave which creates the internal feedback which is required for self-excitation (see Subsection a4 of Section 1). In some cases the reflection causes only a slight quantitative difference between the condition for excitation and the condition for growth. This is this case for striations in narrow tubes, which will be discussed below. Admittedly, even in this case the wave reflection leads to the requirement that the spatial growth rate remain finite at the excitation boundary, as it does experimentally, and as it does not in the "ordinary" theory. For striations in wide tubes the difference is a fundamental one: Although waves with a nonzero frequency can grow (the drift-temperature instability),⁵⁹ they cannot be excited spontaneously.

Particularly noteworthy among the papers which use the hydrodynamic approach (without consideration of boundaries) to study the properties of striations are the papers by Wojaczek.⁴² These papers have reported a detailed study, both theoretical and experimental, of the conditions for the growth of ionization waves in argon at high currents (near the Pupp boundary). In calculating the steady-state properties of the positive col-

umn, Wojaczek considered stepwise ionization and a deviation from a Maxwellian electron energy distribution. He showed that a distortion of the tail of the distribution function leads to a very nonlinear dependence of the ionization rate on the electron density. The calculated results were in complete agreement with experiments carried out over broad ranges of the pressure and the current. Since Wojaczek calculated the stability of the positive column for high currents, it was fair to assume that the lifetime of the metastable atoms was short and that their density could keep up with changes in the electrondensity over time and space. A necessary condition for the instability turned out to be that the ionization rate should increase more rapidly than in proportion to the first power of the density; i.e., $\partial Z/\partial n$ had to be positive. This situation is provided for primarily by a deviation from a Maxwellian tail of the electron distribution function. As the current is raised, the distribution function becomes more nearly Maxwellian, weakening the n dependence of Z and leading to an upper limit of the striation-excitation region on the current scale (the Pupp boundary). Wojaczek found a quantitative correspondence between the calculated properties of the ionization waves and the experimental results.

If the discharge power supply has a finite internal resistance, Eqs. (7) must be supplemented with Ohm's law for the closed circuit:

$$\mathcal{E} = V_1 + V_c , \qquad (8)$$

where $V_i = jSR_i$ is the voltage drop across the resistance in the external circuit (R_i) , which includes the electrode regions; $V_c = \int_0^L E \, dx$ is the voltage drop in the positive column; $S \approx 1.36R^2$ is the effective cross section of the tube; and L and R are the length and radius of the tube.

To study the self-excitation conditions and to determine the boundaries of the region in which striations exist, we can linearize Eqs. (7) and (8) with respect to small deviations from the steady state (corresponding to a positive column which is homogeneous over its length). In terms of the dimensionless variables $\tau = \varepsilon^2 t / \tau_n$, $\xi = \varepsilon \beta_x / R$ ($\varepsilon = E_0 R / \beta T_0$, $\beta \approx 2.4$), these linearized equations are¹³⁴

$$\frac{\partial N}{\partial \tau} - \frac{\partial^{4} N}{\partial \xi^{2}} = \eta_{m} M + \tilde{\eta}_{T} U,$$

$$\frac{\partial M}{\partial \tau} = (q + J P_{n}) N - J M + J P_{T} U,$$

$$\alpha \frac{\partial U}{\partial \xi} - \gamma \frac{\partial^{4} U}{\partial \xi^{2}} - \frac{\partial N}{\partial \xi} + 2 (N - \tilde{j}) + h_{T} U = 0,$$

$$\tilde{j} = \frac{R_{0}}{(R_{1} + R_{0})I} \left[\int_{0}^{L} N d\xi - N (l) + N (0) - \gamma_{i} (U (l) - U (0)) \right].$$
(9)

Here N, M, U, and j are the relative deviations of the electron density, the density of metastable atoms, the electron temperature, and the current from their steady-state values; $R_0 = E_0 L/j_0 S$ is the dc resistance of the positive column; and $J = \tau_n / \varepsilon^2 \tau_m$ eff. $q = \tau_n / \varepsilon^2 \tau_m$, $\alpha = \xi - \gamma_1$, $\eta_m = (1/\varepsilon^2)(m_0/n_g) Z_{mo}/(Z_{0\infty} + (m_0/n_g) Z_{mo})$, $\eta_T = (1/\varepsilon^2)(Z_T - 1)$, $h_T = (T_0/H_0) \partial H / \partial T |_0$. Here Z_T , P_n , and P_T are parameters determined by the derivatives of the frequencies of excitation, deexcitation, direct



FIG. 19. Dependence of the parameter ε on the pressure and the current.³² a: i/R (A/cm) = 0.064 (1); 0.13 (2); 4.5 (3). b: pR (torr cm) = 2.2 (1); 2.4 (2); 0.6 (3).

ionization, and stepwise ionization with respect to the electron density and the electron temperature.

The parameters ε , J, q, η_m , η_T , P_T , P_n , and h_T depend in a complicated way on the current and the gas pressure. For example, the dependence of ε on the current and the pressure is shown in Fig. 19, according to the data of Ref. 42. This figure shows that ε is small and a weak function of the current at currents which are not very low $(i/R \ge 0.1 \text{ A/cm})$ and pressures which are not very high $(pR \le 5 \text{ torr} \cdot \text{cm})$.

The values of these parameters can be estimated in the following manner.³¹ At intermediate and high currents, direct ionization can be ignored in comparison with stepwise ionization. Also ignoring the deexcitation of atoms, we find

$$\begin{split} J &= \frac{1}{e^1} \cdot \frac{n_0}{m_0} = \frac{1}{1.36e^9 e^{\mu} e^{m_0 ER}} \cdot \frac{i}{R}, \\ q &= \frac{T_g}{e^3 T_0}, \quad \eta_m = \frac{1}{e^1}, \\ Z_T &= \frac{T_0}{Z_{m\infty}} \cdot \frac{\partial Z_{m\infty}}{\partial T} \mid_0 \approx \frac{U_1 - U_0}{T_0}, \\ P_T &= \frac{T_0}{Z_{0m}} \cdot \frac{\partial Z_{0m}}{\partial T} \mid_0 - Z_T \approx \frac{2U_0 - U_1}{T_0}, \end{split}$$

where $T_{\rm g}$ is the gas temperature. The parameter $P_n = (n_0/Z_{\rm om}) \partial Z_{\rm om}/\partial n |_0$ depends on the ratio of the frequency of elastic electron-electron and electron-atom collisions. If electron-electron collisions are frequent (if the current is high), then $P_n \sim 1$. If, on the other hand, the frequency of electron-electron collisions is low (and the current is low), then $P_n \sim 0$. At intermediate currents, $0 < P_n < 1$.

At high currents the density of metastable atoms manages to keep up with changes in the electron density, and M can be eliminated from Eqs. (7). Ionization waves of only one type (the type studied by Wojaczek) are excited in this region, and we will refer to these waves as waves of type n (this type of striation apparently corresponds to type s in Pekarek's classification). At intermediate currents, the effective lifetime of the metastable atoms is longer than or comparable to the electron lifetime, and yet another type of ionization wave may arise. This type is excited by a phase shift between the oscillations of the metastable atoms and the electrons. This type of wave, which we will call

³⁾ In estimating the parameters Z_T and P_T we used data graciously furnished by L. D. Tsendin,

type m, can also be excited at low currents. Tsendin⁵⁹ has shown that at low currents $(\tau_{m \text{ eff}} \sim \tau_m)$ the wave of type m should grow, while that of type n should be damped. At high currents $(\tau_{m \text{ eff}} \ll \tau_n)$ the wave of type m should be damped. (Damping of the type-n wave at low currents was also mentioned back in Nedospasov's review.)⁴ Tsendin studied the m and n types separately; this is a legitimate procedure at low and high currents, where these waves have very different frequencies (although the validity of the hydrodynamic equations is doubtful at low currents).

Pekarek et al.142 studied the stability of waves of both types at intermediate and high currents using a numerical solution of the dispersion relation taking metastable atoms into account. At intermediate currents they used the Druyvesteyn equation for the electron energy in calculating the kinetic coefficients, but they ignored the effect of the distortion of the tail of the distribution function on the rates at which electrons and metastable atoms appear and disappear. The use of the Druyvesteyn equation led to an additional term in (7), representing the energy transport along the electron density gradient. (In the Maxwellian case, the coefficient of this term vanishes.) This additional term has a significant effect on the growth of the wave of type n, so that the dependence of P on the electron density n becomes inconsequential. The instability of the m wave at intermediate currents is due primarily to stepwise ionization, and its growth rate is less sensitive to variations in the kinetic coefficients.

Ohe and Takeda¹⁴³ carried out an experimental study of the dispersion characteristics for waves of two types in the striation-free region by means of stimulated excitation. The experimental results were compared with theory through a numerical solution of the dispersion relation corresponding to system (9). An important and typical methodological error in the theoretical part of their work was that real values of the wave numbers were substituted into the dispersion relation, and complex values were found for the frequencies—just the opposite of the situation experimentally, where a study was made of stimulated striations, which were excited by an external force which was sinusoidal in time. For moving striations, the dependence of the spatial growth rate on the wavelength is typically a resonant dependence. In the approach mentioned above, Ohe and Takeda found the wavelength dependence of the temporal growth rate. In general, the maxima of these curves may correspond to different wavelengths; in fact, one curve may not have a maximum at all, while the other does (this was apparently the case for the p wave in Ref. 143).

All these papers dealt with only limited current intervals; the instability of the positive column upon a continuous variation of the current was not studied. In particular, the existence of the striation-free region observed experimentally at intermediate currents in narrow discharge tubes^{33,67} was not covered adequately.

By noting that the parameter ε is small (correspondingly, the tubes are narrow) we can make an approximate study of the striation excitation conditions over the entire current range and find an explanation for the existence of the striation-free region. Here we will simply summarize the results of such a study, which was reported in Refs. 91, 92, and 134-136.

The solution of Eqs. (9) is the sum of four waves and an in-phase component which results from the modulation of the discharge current. The wave numbers of these waves are the roots of the corresponding fourthdegree dispersion relation.

To determine the conditions for spontaneous excitation of striations we must find the wave numbers and use the boundary conditions. We find a characteristic equation for the complex frequency p. The condition for spontaneous excitation of striations is equivalent to the inequality Re $p \ge 0$. Analysis of the dispersion relation shows that one of its roots has a small real part and a large imaginary part at a purely imaginary value of p (of the order of the striation frequency). This root corresponds to the fundamental ionization wave (the striation proper).

The real and imaginary parts of the second root are comparable to the real part of the first. The wave corresponding to this root was called the "oppositely directed ionization wave" in Refs. 91 and 92. The waves corresponding to the two other roots of the dispersion relation are damped over a distance much shorter than the length of the fundamental ionization wave and can thus be incorporated through the boundary conditions.

We denote the wave number of the fundamental (forward) wave by $k = \psi + i\varkappa$, while that of the oppositely directed wave is $k_1 = \psi_1 + i\varkappa_1$, where ψ is the spatial growth rate of the forward wave, and ψ_1 is that of the oppositely directed wave. The rate ψ is a resonant function of \varkappa , reaching a maximum at a certain value of \varkappa which corresponds to the striation wavelength.

The conditions at the boundaries of the positive column can be found by examining the electron and ion currents and the heat flux across the electrode sheath by analogy with Refs. 144 and 145. At small values of N and U, the boundary conditions at the anode and cathode are similar and can be written

$$N + \beta_{1,2} \frac{\partial N}{\partial \xi} = 0, \quad U + \alpha_{1,2} \frac{\partial U}{\partial \xi} = 0, \quad (10)$$

where subscript 1 refers to the cathode and 2 to the anode. It follows from our estimates that the particular form of the boundary conditions is not of fundamental importance if the discharge tube is long enough. It is sufficient that the wave absorption at the boundaries be slight.

Using (10), we can find the eigenvalues \varkappa_m and the self-excitation condition, $\psi \ge \psi_0(\psi_1, V_1/T_0, \beta_1, \beta_2)$, from the characteristic equation. We note that the condition for spontaneous excitation of striations is not the same as the condition for their spatial growth ($\psi > 0$), because of the wave reflection at the boundaries.

Calculations show that the limiting value of the striation growth rate, ψ_0 , increases with decreasing length of the positive column (*l*), with increasing damping of the oppositely directed wave (ψ_1), and with increasing

ratio $R_i l/R_0 = V_i/T_0$. At $V_i/T_0 \gg e^{\psi i l}$ (corresponding to the use of a current source as a power supply for the discharge) and with $\beta_1 = \beta_2 = 0$, the limiting value of ψ approaches ψ_i ; i.e., the growth of the forward wave should offset the damping of the oppositely directed wave. In this case the feedback is internal, provided by the oppositely directed wave. If a voltage source is used as the power supply (if V_i is small), then the reflection from the boundaries is slight; the feedback occurs primarily through the external circuit through the modulation of the discharge current; and the threshold value of ψ_0 is small.

At high currents, at which the density of metastable atoms manages to keep up with the changes in the electron density, the dependence of ψ_0 on V_1/T_0 is as shown in Fig. 20 we see that as V_1/T_0 decreases the quantity ψ_0 approaches a limiting value $\psi_{0 \min}$ = $(1/l) \ln[\varkappa_1 l \sqrt{1 + (\varkappa_1^2/2)}]$, where $\varkappa_1 = h_T / \gamma \varkappa_1$; as V_1 / T_0 increases, it approaches $\psi_1 = 2$. The ratio V_1/T_0 depends on the current and is usually of the order of $10 - 10^3$.

The relationship between the amplitudes of the forward and oppositely directed waves and the in-phase component also depends on the ratio $V_1/T_0 e^{\psi t t}$. If $V_i/T_0 \ll e^{itI}$, then the amplitude of the oppositely directed wave is small in comparison with that of the forward wave and the in-phase component. In this case the shape of the density oscillations is as described in (4); it follows from boundary conditions (10) that C/A= $|1 + \beta_1 k_1|$. If C is to be greater than A, as it is experimentally, we must have $\beta_1 \neq 0$. If $\exp(\psi_1 l) \leq V_1/T_0$, then the amplitude of the oppositely directed wave can be comparable to that of the forward wave and the inphase component. Then the shape of the density oscillation is described by (5).

To find the values of \varkappa , \varkappa_1 , ψ , and ψ_1 from the dispersion relation we can make use of the small parameter ϵ . It turns out that in the striation-excitation region the root corresponding to the forward ionization wave is large ($\sim \epsilon^{-0.5}$), while the second root, which corresponds to the oppositely directed wave, is of order unity. The growth rate of the forward wave, \varkappa , depends on the frequency $\omega = \text{Im } p$ and can have two maxima for certain values of the parameters. One maximum is at low frequencies, $\omega \sim \varepsilon^{-1}$, and one is at high frequencies, $\omega \sim \varepsilon^{-1.5}$. In the first region, the dispersion law and the expression for ψ are

$$\gamma_{\omega} \mathbf{x}^{3} = J P_{\tau} \eta_{m}, \qquad (11)$$

$$\mathbf{\psi} = \frac{1}{\tau} \left(\frac{q + J P_{n}}{T} \gamma \mathbf{x}^{2} - \frac{\gamma}{T} \mathbf{x}^{4} - \frac{\tilde{\eta}_{T}}{T} \right), \qquad (12)$$

(12)

FIG. 20. Dependence of the threshold spatial growth rate on V_1/T_0 .

It can be seen from (12) that ψ depends on \varkappa in a resonant manner, reaching a maximum ψ_{max} at some $\varkappa = \varkappa_0$. It is this value which determines the striation wavelength: $\lambda_0 = 2\pi/\kappa_0$. Expanding (11) around the value $\varkappa = \varkappa_0$, we find an approximate (linear) equation for the dispersion law:

$$\omega = \frac{3JP_T\eta_m}{2\pi\gamma\kappa_0^2} \left(\lambda - \frac{2}{3}\lambda_0\right),$$

It follows that the striation group velocity should be three times the phase velocity in this case and in the opposite direction.

The values found for ψ , \varkappa , and ω correspond to striations of type m. The maximum value of ψ for striations of this type falls off with increasing current, so that ψ_{max} becomes negative at a certain current $J = J_m$. It can be shown that $J_m > 0$ if P_n is sufficiently small $[P_n \leq 3 (P_T \tilde{\eta}_T / 4\gamma^2 \eta_m^2)^{1/3}]$. Under this condition, however, J_m increases with increasing P_n .

In the second region (for strictions of type n) the dispersion law and the expression for ψ are

$$\varphi \omega \mathbf{x} = \widetilde{\eta}_{\mathbf{T}} \left(\text{ i.e., } \omega = \frac{\eta_{\mathbf{T}}}{2\pi \nu} \lambda \right), \tag{13}$$

$$\psi = \frac{\gamma J P_T \eta_m}{\widetilde{\eta}_T^2} \, \varkappa^2 - \frac{\gamma}{\widetilde{\eta}_T} \, \varkappa^4 - 2 + \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} \,. \tag{14}$$

The maximum value of ψ is reached at $\varkappa = \varkappa_0$ $=\sqrt{JP_T\eta_m/2\eta_T}$, and the condition for excitation of striations becomes satisfied at

$$J \geqslant J_n = \frac{2\widetilde{\eta}_T}{P_T \eta_m} \sqrt{\left(2 - \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} + \psi_0\right)\widetilde{\eta}_T / \gamma}.$$

We see that the parameter P_n does not affect the excitation of striations of type n at intermediate currents; P_r plays the major role. The group velocity of striations of type n should be equal in order of magnitude to the phase velocity and opposite in direction.

As an example, Fig. 21 shows the J dependence of ψ_{\max} , \varkappa , and ω for striations of types m and n for the following parameter values: $\varepsilon = 0, 1, Z_T = 2, P_T = 3, q = 1$, $P_n = 0.32$. We see that for this particular case there is a striation-free region whose width depends on ψ_0 and thus on the length of the column. Experiments with helium-neon mixtures reveal a behavior of the growth rate ψ in the striation-free region (Fig. 11) in qualitative agreement with Fig. 21. In these experiments, however, no discontinuities were observed in the frequency or wavelength in the striation-free region, apparently because the maxima of the growth rate ψ are



FIG. 21. Dependence of the frequency ω , the wave number \varkappa , and the spatial growth rate ψ on the quantity J, which is proportional to the discharge current.13

close together (or there is only a single maximum), and the different types of striations are indistinguishable on the basis of their frequencies and wave numbers. This could be the case if the parameter ε were not small. Unfortunately, this case is not amenable to analytic calculations.

As the parameter P_n increases, the striation-free region contracts and eventually disappears. As a result, the excitation of both types of striations becomes possible in a certain range of currents. Which type is actually excited depends on the "past history" of the system, so a hysteresis should be observed as the current is varied up and down. This picture corresponds to the experimental data reported by Zaitsev if we identify the striations of type m as type p and those of type n as type s. In the region of the transition from one type to another there should be discontinuities in the frequency and the wave number, according to the calculations. This prediction again agrees with experiments by the Zaitsev group³¹ for values $pR \sim 1$ torr cm (Fig. 22).

These results explain the empirical Novak rule: that the potential drop over the length of the striation remains constant, $U_{\lambda} = E_0 \lambda = 2\pi T_0 / \varkappa = \text{const.}$ For striations of type *m* (Fig. 21) the growth rate \varkappa decreases with increasing current. Since T_0 also falls off with increasing current, the value of U_{λ} should remain approximately constant. For striations of type *n*, on the other hand, the growth rate \varkappa decreases abruptly by a factor of about two and then increases slightly with increasing current. The value of U_{λ} should decrease slightly, as is confirmed by the data of Ref. 34.

According to the data of Ref. 31, the transition from one type of striation to another occurs at $i/R = 3 \cdot 10^{-2}$ A/cm for pR = 1 torr cm. This value of the current lies below the range of applicability of the hydrodynamic approximation as specified in Subsection 2a (the threshold current for pR = 1 torr cm is $i/R \simeq 5.6 \cdot 10^{-2}$ A/cm). As will be seen in the data discussed below, however, there is a fairly good quantitative correspondence between the results of the theory outlined above and the experimental results.

In the comparison of theory with experiment, the kinetic coefficients were taken for a Maxwellian electron energy distribution ($\gamma = 1$). The values of T_0 and E/p were determined from Ref. 147; data on the electron and ion mobility were taken from Refs. 148 and



FIG. 22. Dependence of the wavelength λ and the frequency f of the striations on the discharge current in neon.³¹ R (cm) = 2.6 (1); 1.5 (2); 0.75 (3).

149; and data on the density of metastable atoms, m_0 , and the temperature T_g in Ne were taken from Ref. 150 for approximately the same discharge conditions. The greatest difficulty was in evaluating the parameter P_n . On the other hand, this parameter has only a very slight effect on the wavelengths and frequencies of striations of type m and essentially no effect at all on the corresponding properties of striations of type n. We accordingly adopted the arbitrary value $P_n = 0.5$.

The results calculated from Eqs. (11) and (13) for the frequencies and wavelengths of striations of types m and n in Ne for pR = 1 torr cm are listed in Table I. The wave number was determined from the condition for a maximum of the corresponding spatial growth rate. Also shown in this table are the phase velocities and characteristic potentials and the corresponding experimental values from Ref. 31. We see that the discrepancy between the theoretical and experimental values is less than 20% in all cases, and this discrepancy lies within the error of the equations.

At high currents, the dispersion law, the spatial growth rate, and the optimum wave number (that corresponding to the maximum value of ψ) are determined from^{91,92}

$$\begin{split} \gamma \mathbf{x} \omega &= \eta_T, \quad \psi = \frac{\gamma \mathbf{x}^2}{\eta_T} \left(\eta_n - \mathbf{x}^2 - 2 \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \right) \frac{\eta_T}{\gamma \mathbf{x}^2} \right), \\ \mathbf{x}_0 &= \left[\eta_T \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} + \psi_0 \right) \frac{1}{\gamma} \right]^{1/4}, \end{split}$$

where $\eta_n = P_n \eta_m$, $\eta_T = P_T \eta_m + \tilde{\eta}_T$. The characteristics of the striations in this current range are well known,^{4,42,59} and we will discuss them no further.

From the dispersion relation corresponding to system (9) we can also determine the wave number and spatial growth rate of the oppositely directed wave. It follows from the general expressions for these properties that at high currents we would have $\psi_1 = 2$, $\varkappa_1 = \omega h_T / \eta_T = h_T / \gamma \varkappa$. At intermediate currents the quantity ψ_1 reaches a minimum and can be much smaller than two (even negative). In the case of Fig. 6, the value of ψ_1 is apparently quite small, so that it is possible to observe the oppositely directed wave.⁴⁾ If $\psi_1 < 0$, then the limiting value of the growth rate ψ for the direct wave may also be negative. This situation may explain the excitation of striations in helium which are damped in the direction toward the anode.⁶⁷

TABLE	I.
-------	----

Type of stri- ation		iA/cm	Rt, cm/s	$\frac{\lambda}{R}$	$\nu_{\rm ph}, m/s$	U _λ , V
m,	Theory	2.5·10-8	1,6·10 ³	2.8	45	7,3
n	Experiment Theory	3 5,40-8	1.6·10³ 8.3·10³	3.5 5.7	56 472	9.1 15
	Experiment	3,3.10 -	7.0.10 ³	7	490	18.3

⁴⁾ Attempts have been made¹⁵¹ to observe experimentally the oppositely directed wave at high currents.

c) Some problems in the nonlinear theory of moving striations

The nonlinear theory of striations is still in a primitive state, with extremely few published papers. A few nonlinear effects for moving striations were discussed in Refs. 51-54, 132, and 152-154. Several aspects of the behavior of large-amplitude striations were first explained by Nedospasov,¹³² on the basis of a semiphenomenological theory for ionization-diffusion relaxation oscillations. It was shown there that the head of the striation, with the potential drop and the sharp spike in the electron density, results from elementary processes at the end of the preceding striation. Gorelik and Tsendin¹⁵³ worked in the hydrodynamic approximation using the Whitham method¹⁵⁵ to find the shape of the saturation ionization waves under growth conditions. Since the wave reflection from the boundaries of the positive column was ignored in those papers, the solution may be quite different from that for excitation conditions. This difference is quite familiar in, for example, microwave electronics.¹⁵⁶

In a series of papers, Grabec *et al.*⁵²⁻⁵⁴ described numerical simulations based on Pekarek's nonlinear model. Although these simulations are definitely of interest for the general theory of nonlinear waves, they are not particularly pertinent to ionization waves. In the first place, periodic boundary conditions are used, without adequate justification, for the density and temperature perturbations; these boundary conditions do not correspond to the boundary conditions at the ends of the positive column. Second, in this model the conditions for the excitation of waves begin to be satisfied for the lowest-order mode, again in contradiction to the experimental data.

Kogan and Fisun¹⁵⁴ studied the stabilization of an ionization wave which results from a decay involving the formation of two ionization waves with lower frequencies and wave numbers. Although these results are quite interesting, they have apparently not yet been confirmed experimentally.

Several nonlinear problems were solved in Refs. 133 and 135 by the asymptotic method of Ref. 157, which is applicable slightly above the excitation threshold. This method can be used to study the steady-state excitation of striations and the asynchronous-suppression effect.

Nonlinear terms must be taken into account in Eqs. (7) and (8) in order to carry out calculations for the steady-state excitation of moving striations. Corresponding calculations have been carried out for high currents, at which the density of metastable atoms manages to keep up with the changes in the electron density. In this case system (7) can be written as follows, where we are using the dimensionless variables introduced above:

$$\frac{\partial N}{\partial \tau} - \eta_T U = \frac{\partial^2 N}{\partial \xi^2} + \eta_n N + f_1,$$

$$\gamma \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial \xi^2} + \frac{\partial N}{\partial \xi} = \alpha \frac{\partial U}{\partial \xi} + 2(N - \tilde{f}) + h_T + f_2.$$
(15)

Here f_1 and f_2 are nonlinear functions of N, U, \bar{j} , and their spatial derivatives. Conservative linear terms

have been put on the left side of (15), while the nonlinear and nonconservative terms are on the right. The left side of system (15) agrees in the linear approximation with the generating system in Ref. 153. At small wave amplitudes, at which the excitation conditions are approximately single-mode conditions, the right sides of (15) are small in comparison with the left sides. Then a solution can be sought in the form of the sum of a traveling wave and an in-phase component (which includes the reflected wave) with slowly varying amplitudes:

$$N = A (\xi, \tau) e^{i(\omega \tilde{\tau} + \kappa \xi)} + B (\xi, \tau) e^{i\omega \tau} + c.c.$$

Setting $\tilde{j} = C(\tau)e^{i\omega\tau}$ and using the asymptotic method, we can derive truncated equations for the amplitudes A and B (Ref. 133). The relationships among the amplitudes A, B, and C are determined by Ohm's law and the boundary conditions. From the solution of the truncated equations we can find the steady-state striation amplitude and the nonlinear correction to the wave frequency. Under the boundary conditions N(0) = N(l) = 0 the striation amplitude near the anode is given by the following expression for conditions near the excitation threshold:

$$|A(l)| = \sqrt{\frac{2\psi_0 l(\psi - \psi_0)}{\mu(\psi_0)}};$$

where $\mu(\psi_0)$, the effective saturation coefficient for the forward wave, is a function of the threshold value of the striation growth rate, ψ_0 , and the nonlinearity parameters. Figure 23 shows the dependence of $\mu(\psi_0)$ on ψ_0 for certain fixed values of the nonlinearity parameters. We see that $\mu(\psi_0)$ increases with increasing ψ_0 and thus with increasing R_1 . At small values of R_1 the quantity $\mu(\psi_0)$ may be negative; this situation corresponds to "hard" striation excitation. Experiments show that for a helium-neon mixture the excitation of striations is hard on both sides of the striation-free region. This can be seen from the hysteresis loop in Fig. 24. As the ballast resistance (R_1) increases, the hysteresis loop becomes narrower, implying that soft excitation conditions are being approached.

The truncated equations for the wave amplitudes have been used to solve the problem of the asynchronous suppression of striations through a modulation of the discharge current. At small values of the difference $\psi - \psi_0$ (slightly above the threshold) the minimum modulation index of the discharge current is given by^{133,135}

$$C_t^{\mathfrak{g}} = (\psi - \psi_0) \frac{1 + (a\omega_t^{\mathfrak{g}}/\omega^{\mathfrak{g}})}{b + (c\omega_t^{\mathfrak{g}}/\omega^{\mathfrak{g}})};$$



FIG. 23. Dependence of the effective striation saturation coefficient $\mu(\psi_0)$ on the threshold spatial growth rate ψ_0 (Ref. 133).



FIG. 24. Dependence of the striation amplitude on the discharge current near the striation-free region for a heliumneon mixture. $\alpha = 10$, pR = 0.4 torr cm, L = 14 cm, $R_i = 277$ k Ω .

where a, b, and $c (a^{-1}, b^{-} \epsilon c)$ are coefficients determined by the nonlinearity parameters. Figure 25 illustrates the dependence of C_i on the ratio of the modulation frequency, ω_1 , to the natural striation frequency, ω . The dashed part of the curve is the part near the resonance, where this calculation is not applicable (in this region the current modulation leads to stimulated striations, which are not taken into account in the calculations). The ω_1 dependence of C_t is in qualitative agreement with experiment (Fig. 12).

Ohe and Takeda⁵¹ have also attempted to explain the asynchronous suppression of striations, using the Pekarek model and an analogy with the classical problem of the asynchronous suppression of self-excited oscillation in a Van der Pol oscillator.⁹⁵ This analogy, however, is strained, if simply because the striations are described by an equation which is of first degree in the time, rather than of second degree as in a Van der Pol oscillator.

d) Stationary striations in molecular and inert gases

While the linear theory gives a rather good explanation of the growth and dispersion properties of moving striations, the situation is much more complicated in the case of stationary striations. The growth rate is not resonant in nature in the region in which the $\omega(k)$ curve intersects the wave number (k) axis. For this reason, those "possible values of the curve of the temporal growth rate for the case of undamped stationary striations" which are shown by Fig. 25 in Pekarek's review⁵ are actually not possible. The only way to explain the existence of stationary striations is to appeal to a nonlinear theory. Nevertheless, attempts have been made to extract stationary striations from the dispersion relations. Nedospasov,¹²⁰ for example, attempted to explain the existence of stationary striations on the basis of the thermodiffusion term in the ambi-



FIG. 25. Dependence of the threshold modulation amplitude C_t on the ratio of the modulation frequency ω , to the natural striation frequency ω (Ref. 133). The dashed part of the curve shows the region near the resonance.

polar diffusion equation, since the $\omega(k)$ curve intersects the wave number axis when this term is taken into account.

Lee and Garscadden^{49,50} derived stationary striations as natural solutions of the Pekarek equations⁵ with specified boundary conditions. The spatial damping rate for the stationary striations which they calculated, however, turned out to be much larger than that observed experimentally under corresponding discharge conditions. The apparent reason for the discrepancy lies in the original model, which, like the early papers by Pekarek, ignores the nonlinear dependence of the ionization rate on the electron density.

Chapnik¹⁵⁸ attempted a nonlinear study of stationary striations by using an analog computer to solve a nonlinear equation for the electron temperature, ignoring the spatial variation of the density. This is an extremely crude approximation, which is at odds with experimental results (e.g., those of Refs. 108 and 113), the relative changes in the density are much larger than those in the temperature over the length of a striation. According to Ref. 113, for example, the electron density varies by an order of magnitude, while the temperature varies by a factor of only 1.5.

Calculations for stationary striations can be carried out from the same hydrodynamic model as was used for moving striations [Eqs. (7)]. Because of the considerable difference in parameters, this calculation should be carried out differently for the cases of molecular and inert gases.^{137,138}

1) Stationary striations in molecular gases. Substantial electric fields arise in molecular gases because of the large inelastic energy loss of electrons. The parameters η_T and η_n are thus much smaller than in inert gases. For nitrogen with pR = 0.5 torr.cm and i/R= 0.01 A/cm, for example, we have $\eta_T \approx 0.5$. If we assume $\eta_T \leq 10, \eta_n \leq 1, h_T \sim 10$, then Eqs. (7) can be written as follows in terms of dimensionless variables:

$$\frac{d^{2}N}{d\xi^{2}} + \eta_{T}U + \eta_{n}N = f_{1},$$

$$\frac{dN}{d\xi} - 2N - h_{T}U = f_{2},$$
(16)

where f_1 and f_2 are nonlinear functions, and $\eta_n = \eta_m (q/J + P_n), \eta_T = P_T \eta_m + \tilde{\eta}_T$. In deriving (16) we eliminated the density of metastable atoms, M, and we discarded the derivatives with respect to time, since they vanish in the case of steady-state excitation of stationary striations. Furthermore, the variation in the discharge current upon the excitation of striations was ignored. In the linear approximation, the solution of (16) is

$$N = A e^{-\psi\xi} \sin(\varkappa\xi + \varphi_0),$$

$$U = A \sqrt{\frac{\varkappa^3 + (2+\psi)^3}{h_T}} e^{-\psi\xi} \sin(\varkappa\xi + \varphi_1),$$
(17)

where

$$\psi = \frac{\eta_T}{2h_T}, \quad \varkappa = \sqrt{\eta_n - \frac{2\eta_T}{h_T} \left(1 + \frac{\eta_T}{8h_T}\right)}, \quad (18)$$

 φ_0 is the initial phase, determined from the boundary condition at $\xi = 0$, and

$$\varphi_1 - \varphi_0 = - \arctan \frac{x}{2+y}$$

is the phase shift between the variations in the electron density and temperature.

It follows from (18) that the spatial damping rate of the striations, ψ , is smaller, the smaller the ratio η_T/h_T . Furthermore, stationary striations will be observed if $\varkappa/2\pi$ is at least larger than ψ (damping should occur over a distance larger than the length of a striation). We thus have a condition on η_T :

$$\eta_n > \frac{2\eta_T}{h_T} \left(1 + \frac{\pi^2 \eta_T}{2h_T} \right).$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Since the parameter η_n falls off with increasing current at intermediate and high currents, condition (20) can be satisfied only in a limited current range. The ratio of the damping rate of the standing striations to the wave number should increase with increasing current.

If $\eta_T/h_T \ll \eta_n$, then the length of the striations is, in dimensional units, $\lambda = 2\pi T_0/E_0 \approx = 2\pi R/(\sqrt{Z_n}\beta)$, where $Z_n = \tau_{m \text{ eff}}/\tau_m + P_n$. Since Z_n is smaller than or of the order of unity, the length of slightly damped stationary striations in molecular gases must be larger than or of the order of the tube diameter—in agreement with experiment.

As can be seen from (19), the phase shift between U and N may vary from π at $\varkappa \ll 2+\psi$ to approximately $(3/4)\pi$ at $\varkappa = 2+\psi$, depending on the parameters. This conclusion agrees with experiment (see Subsection b2 of Section 1).

Examining the conditions for the spontaneous excitation of stationary striations, we find that they are not resonant in nature and can be satisfied simultaneously for a broad range of wave numbers. It can be shown, 138, 139 however, that all wave numbers for which the excitation conditions hold approach a single value because of the strong dependence of the wave number on the striation amplitude. This value is approximately that given by Eq. (18). Because of this dependence, the boundary conditions at $\xi = l$ are also satisfied. Analytic calculations can be carried out for these nonlinear effects under the condition $\psi \ll \varkappa$, with $\psi \le 0.1$ and $\varkappa \sim 1$. In this case the quantity N is small, and the nonlinear functions f_1 and f_2 can be expanded in series. Retaining the quadratic terms of these series, and eliminating Ufrom (16), we find an equation for N:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^{\mathbf{a}}N}{\mathrm{d}\xi^{\mathbf{a}}} + 2\psi \frac{\mathrm{d}N}{\mathrm{d}\xi} + \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{a}}N - \rho N^{\mathbf{a}} = 0. \tag{21}$$

Equation (21) is analogous to the oscillation equation of a nonlinear oscillator, and its solution is expressed in terms of slightly damped Jacobi elliptic functions.¹⁵⁹ For the boundary conditions N(0) = N(1) we have

$$N(\xi) = \frac{2\theta^{2}(\xi)k^{4}(\xi)}{3\rho} \times \left(\sin^{2}\frac{\theta(\xi)(\xi-\xi_{0})}{2} - \sin^{2}\frac{\theta(\xi)\xi_{0}}{2} \right),$$
(22)

where $k(\xi)$ is the modulus of the elliptic function, which falls off slightly from the cathode toward the anode, θ = $\kappa (1 + k^4 - k^2)^{-1/4}$, sn²[$(\xi_0 \theta_0)/2$] = $(1 + k^2 - \sqrt{1 + k^4 - k^2})/3k^2$. Near the anode the modulus k can take on one of the eigenvalues



(19)

FIG. 26. Shape of the stationary striations calculated from Eq. (22).

$$k_m(l) = \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{15^{1/4}} \left(\frac{\kappa l}{m\pi} - 1 \right),$$

where $m = 1, 2, ..., m_0$; m_0 = entier $\{\varkappa l/\pi\}$ (m_0 is the largest integer in $\varkappa l/\pi$).

We see from (22) and Fig. 26 that the shape of the stationary striations near the cathode may be quite nonsinusoidal; the difference fades toward the anode. The length of the striations should fall off slightly with distance from the cathode. These results agree well with experiment (Fig. 17).

A complete solution of the problem of the existence of stationary striations must await a study of the stability of stability of solution (22). This stability study is a complicated problem, which has yet to be solved. The approach suggested by Yakubovich¹⁸⁰ may prove helpful here.

2) Stationary striations in inert gases. The parameters η_T and η_n are large in inert gases, as we mentioned earlier, and in a certain current range we can set $\eta_T \sim \varepsilon^{-3}$, $\eta_n \sim \varepsilon^{-2}$, $h_T \sim \varepsilon^{-1}$. Ignoring the small terms in (15), and setting $\partial N/\partial \tau = 0$, we find

$$\frac{dN}{dE} + \eta_T U + \eta_n N = f_1,$$
$$\frac{dN}{dE} + \gamma \frac{d^2 U}{dE^2} = f_2.$$

In the linear approximation,

$$V(\xi) = Ae^{-\phi\xi} \sin(\kappa\xi + \varphi_0) + B + Ce^{2\phi\xi}, \qquad (23)$$

where

1

$$\begin{split} \psi &= \frac{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_1}{2}, \quad \varkappa = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \left(\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2 \right), \\ \varepsilon_{1,2} &= \left[\left(\frac{\eta_T}{4\gamma^3} + \frac{\eta_R^3}{27} \right)^{1/2} \pm \frac{\eta_T}{2\gamma} \right]^{1/3}. \end{split}$$

The first term in (23) describes the striations proper; the second and third determine the aperiodic change in the electron density over the length of the column. The quantity C must be negligibly small in comparison with A and B in order to satisfy the boundary conditions at the anode. From the expressions for \times and ψ we see that $\psi < \varkappa$; the ratio ψ/\varkappa is smaller, the larger η_n . At $\eta_n \ll \eta_T^{2/3}$ ($\eta_n \le \varepsilon^{-1}$) the ratio ψ/\varkappa tends toward $1/\sqrt{3}$. As we mentioned earlier, the striations can be observed if $\psi/\varkappa < 1/2\pi$. This condition imposes a restriction on η_n . Since η_n decreases with increasing current at intermediate and high currents, the ratio ψ/\varkappa should increase with increasing current, and the stationary striations should become unobservable at a certain current. These results agree with the experiments of Zaitsev and Savchenko (Fig. 16).

The length of the striations in dimensional units is

$$\lambda = \frac{2\pi T}{\pi E} \sim \begin{cases} \frac{2\pi R}{\beta \sqrt{Z_n}} & \text{for } \eta_n \ge \eta_T^{2/3}, \\ \frac{2\pi R}{\sqrt{3}} \left[\frac{\varepsilon}{R} \left(P_T + Z_T - 1 \right) \right]^{-1/3} & \text{for } \eta_n \ll \eta_T^{2/3} \end{cases}$$

We see that in the first case, in which the striations are damped relatively slightly (the damping occurs over several wavelengths), their length must be greater than or of the order of the tube diameter. In the second case, on the other hand, with strong damping, the striation length may be several times the diameter at small ε . The addition of an impurity to an inert gas increases the electric field, so that the parameter ε increases, and the length of the striations should decrease.^{114,161}

The amplitude and shape of stationary striations in both inert and molecular gases are found from a solution of the nonlinear equation for the density and the boundary conditions at $\xi = l$. For inert gases, however, this equation is more complicated than it is for molecular gases.

CONCLUSIONS

The ionization waves which have been the subject of this review are simply one example of a stratification phenomenon which is quite common in nature: stratification of homogeneous media. The stratification may result from quite different factors, and even in gas discharges the stratification effects may be quite different in physical nature. Superficial similarities have led to the use of the term "striation" to refer to a variety of effects in gas discharges: ionization waves, caused by the ionization of gas atoms; electrothermic waves, which arise in crossed electric and magnetic fields^{4,162-181}; waves in electronegative gases, caused by a dependence of the attachment frequency on the electron temperature¹⁸²⁻¹⁹⁰; etc. In order to describe these different types of waves it is necessary to consider different physical processes in the plasma, so that different original models are used. From the standpoint of oscillation theory, on the other hand, all these phenomena are self-excited oscillations in distributed systems, so that they can all be studied by a common approach.

As has been mentioned repeatedly in the literature, ionization waves constitute a special class of waves, with a peculiar dispersion law. The pecularity of the dispersion law leads in turn to peculiar laws for the reflection and refraction of these waves at interfaces; specifically, the phase velocity of the reflected wave is in the same direction as the incident wave, while the energy is moving in the opposite direction.

Ionization waves (striations) may be either moving or standing waves. It follows from the results of this review that the waves are of the same physical nature in the two cases and are caused by the same physical processes.

It can be concluded from this discussion that the hydrodynamic model gives a qualitatively, and frequently quantitatively, correct description of both the linear and nonlinear properties of moving and stationary striations at intermediate and high currents. It is apparently necessary to use the kinetic theory only at low currents and well above the excitation threshold, at least for a qualitative study of striations.

We have not touched on the excitation of striations under more complicated discharge conditions, e.g., in a contracted column, an rf discharge,^{116,123,191} or a magnetic field.^{161,192-204} Under these conditions there are several specific effects which deserve special study.

We sincerely thank N. G. Yaroshenko, M. I. Molchanov, I. A. Savchenko, V. V. Il'inskii, and V. E. Privalov for much interest in this work, many useful suggestions, and access to experimental data.

- ¹M. Abira, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. 169, 155 (1878).
- ²A. Wüllmer, Progr. Ann. Phys. (Jubelband) 32 (1874).
- ³W. Spottiswood, Proc. R. Soc. 25, 547 (1877); 26, 90 (1877).
- ⁴A. V. Nedospasov, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 94, 439 (1968) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 11, 174 (1968)].
- ⁵L. Pekarek, Usp. Fiz. Nauk **94**, 463 (1968) [Sov. Phys. Usp. **11**, 188 (1968)].
- ⁶N. L. Oleson and A. W. Cooper, Adv. Electronics and Electron Phys. 24, 155 (1968).
- ⁷T. Donahue and G. H. Dieke, Phys. Rev. 81, 248 (1951).
- ⁸R. L. F. Boyd and N. D. Twiddy, Proc. R. Soc. Ser. A 259, 145 (1960).
- ⁹L. Pekarek, in: X ICPIG, Invited Papers, Oxford, 1971, p. 365.
- ¹⁰V. E. Privalov, Kvant. Elektron. (Moscow) 4, 2085 (1977) [Sov. J. Quantum Electron. 7, 1191 (1977)].
- ¹¹M. J. Druyvesteyn, Physica 1, 273 1003 (1934).
- ¹²D. V. Gordeev, A. A. Zaltsev, V. F. Makhrov, I. A. Savchenko, and B. N. Shvilkin, Electron. Tekhnika. Ser. 3: Elektronnye Pribory No. 2, 103 (1969).
- ¹³A. A. Zaïtsev, V. F. Makhrov, I. A. Savchenko, and B. N. Shvilkin, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. **39**, 764 (1969) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. **14**, 575 (1969)].
- ¹⁴ V. E. Privalov, Gazorazryadnye lazery v sudovykh izmeritelnykh kompleksakh (Gas-Discharge Lasers in Marine Measurement Complexes), Sudostroenie, Leningrad, 1977.
- ¹⁵D. A. Lee, P. Bletzinger, and A. Garscadden, J. Appl. Phys. 37, 377 (1966).
- ¹⁶N. V. Kirillova and M. I. Molchanov, Radiotekh. Elektron. 23, 2575 (1978).
- ¹⁷ P. A. Pavlov and V. E. Privalov, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 48, 1375 (1978) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 23, 775 (1978)].
- ¹⁸H. Lamb, Hydrodynamics, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1930 (Russ. Transl. Gostekhizdat, Moscow, 1947).
- ¹⁹L. I. Mandel' shtam, Sobranie sochinenii (Collected Works), Vol. II, Izd. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Moscow, 1947.
- ²⁰L. I. Mandel' shtam, Lektsii po optike, teorii otnositel' nosti i kvantovoi mekhanike (Lectures on Optics, Relativity, and Quantum Mechanics), Nauka, Moscow, 1972, pp. 389, 401.
- ²¹V. M. Kamenkovich and A. S. Monin (editors), Fizika okeana (Physics of the Oceans), Nauka, Moscow, 1978.
- ²²T. Sato and T. E. Holtzer, J. Geophys. Res. 78, 7314, 7330 (1973).
- ²³V. L. Bonch-Bruevich and A. N. Temchin, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 76, 1713 (1979) [Sov. Phys. JETP 49, 871 (1979)].

- ²⁴B. S. Kerner and V. V. Osipov, Zh. Eskp. Teor. Fiz. 74, 1675 (1978) [Sov. Phys. JETP 47, 874 (1978)].
- ²⁵B. S. Kerner and V. V. Osipov, Fiz. Tekh. Poluprovodn.
- 13, 721 (1979) [Sov. Phys. Semicond 13, 424 (1979)].
- ²⁶L. M. Zhabotinskii, Kontsentratsionnye kolebaniya (Density Oscillations), Nauka, Moscow, 1974.
- ²⁷P. Glansdorff and I. Prigogine, Thermodynamic Theory of Structure, Stability, and Fluctuations, Wiley, New York. 1971 (Russ. Transl. Mir, Moscow, 1973).
- ²⁸V. V. Alekseev, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 120, 647 (1976) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 19, 1007 (1976)].
- ²⁹Yu. M. Romanovskii, N. V. Stepanova, and D. S. Chernavskii, Matematicheskoe modelirovanie v biofizike (Mathematical Modelling in Biophysics), Nauka, Moscow, 1975.
- ³⁰V. A. Vasil'ev, Yu. M. Romanovskii, and V. G. Yakno, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 128, 625 (1979) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 22, 615 (1979)].
- ³¹A. A. Zaitsev, I. A. Savchenko, and V. F. Makhrov, Radiotekh. Elektron. 15, 2650 (1970).
- ³²S. Pfau and A. Rutscher, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 22, 108 (1968).
- ³³S. Pfau, A. Rutscher, and K. Wojaczek, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 9, 333 (1979).
- ³⁴A. A. Zaitsev and I. A. Savchenko, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 45, 1541 (1975) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 20, 983].
- ³⁵R. Holm, Z. Phys. 25, 504 (1924); 26, 412 (1925).
- ³⁶J. Thomson, Phil. Mag. 8, 1 (1929).
- ³⁷K. T. Compton, K. A. Turner, and W. H. McCurdy, Phys. Rev. 24, 597 (1924).
- ³⁸R. Holm, Z. Phys. 75, 171 (1932).
- ³⁹H. Paul, Z. Phys. 97, 171 (1932).
- ⁴⁰H. Rother, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 4, 373 (1959); 5, 252 (1960). ⁴¹H. Rother, Z. Phys. 157, 326 (1959).
- ⁴²K. Wojaczek, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 1, 30 (1960/1961); 2, 13 (1962); 5, 307 (1965); 6, 319 (1966); 11, 335 (1971).
- ⁴³L. Pekarek and V. Krejci, Czech. J. Phys. B12, 296, 450 (1962); 13, 881 (1963).
- ⁴⁴L. Pekarek, in: VI ICPIG, Paris, 1963, Vol. 2, p. 133.
- ⁴⁵L. Pekarek and K. Pohlena, Czech. J. Phys. B17, 856 (1967).
- ⁴⁶K. Rohlena, in: Transactions of Third Czechoslovak Conference on Electronics and Vacuum Physics, Academics, Prague, 1967, p. 131.
- ⁴⁷M. Shimada, Phys. Lett. A49, 455, (1974).
- ⁴⁸A. Garscadden, P. Beltzinger, and T. C. Simonen, Phys. Fluids 12, 1833 (1969).
- ⁴⁹D. A. Lee and A. Garscadden, cited in Ref. 9, p. 281.
- ⁵⁰D. A. Lee and A. Garscadden, Phys. Fluids 15, 1826 (1972).
- ⁵¹K. Ohe and S. Takeda, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 14, 55 (1973).
- ⁵²I. Grabec, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 11, 285 (1971); 12, 83 (1972).
- ⁵³I. Grabec and J. Mozina, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 14, 1 (1974).
- ⁵⁴I. Grabec and S. Mikac, Plasma Phys. 16, 1155 (1974).
- ⁵⁵B. N. Klyarfel'd, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 22, 66 (1952).
- ⁵⁶S. W. Rayment, J. Phys. D7, 871 (1974).
- ⁵⁷Yu. M. Kagan, N. B. Kolokolov, T. A. Krylova, and V. M. Milenin, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 41, 120 (1971) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 16, 88 (1971)].
- ⁵⁸K. F. Bessonova, O. N. Oreshak, E. P. Ostapchenko, and V. A. Stepanov, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 41, 979 (1971) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 16, 770 (1971)].
- ⁵⁹L. D. Tsendin, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 39, 1341 (1969); 40, 1600 (1970); 15, 1245 (1971); 41, 1553 (1971); 16, 1226 (1972) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 14, 1013 (1970)].
- ⁶⁰M. Sicha and M. G. Drouet, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 8, 403 (1968).
- ⁶¹M. G. Drouet and M. Sicha, Can. J. Phys. 46, 1787 (1968).
- 62S. Gundermann, Beirt. Plasmaphys. 9, 325 (1969); 10, 115 (1970).
- ⁶³A. Rutscher, Phys. und Techn. Plasm. Eisenach, 9 (1968).
- ⁶⁴V. Perina, Czech. J. Phys. B26, 764 (1976).
- ⁶⁵K. Wojaczek, in: IX ICPIT. Invited Papers, Vienna, 1968. ⁶⁶V. Krejci, K. Masek, L. Laska, and V. Perina, Beitr.
- Plasmaphys. 7, 413 (1967).
- ⁶⁷K. Ohe and S. Takeda, Jpn J. Appl. Phys. 11, 1173 (1972);

- 12, 627 (1973); 14, 1765 (1975).
- 68T. Suzuki, Jpn J. Appl. Phys. 9, 309 (1970).
- ⁶⁹A. B. Basaev, M. I. Molchanov, and N. G. Yaroshenko, Zh. Tekh, Fiz. 45, 1929 (1975) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 20, 1215 (1976)].
- ⁷⁰Yu. G. Zakharenko, V. E. Privalov, and Ya. A. Fofanov, Radiotekh, Elektron, 31, 1901 (1976).
- ⁷¹Yu. G. Zakharenko and V. E. Privalov, Opt. Spektrosk. 35, 750 (1973) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 35, 434 (1973)].
- ⁷²I. P. Mazan'ko, Yu. S. Troshkin, and N. G. Yaroshenko, Opt. Spektrosk. 31, 637 (1971) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 31, 335 (1971)].
- ⁷³M. A. Molchashkin, Radiotekh. Elektron. 20, 1656 (1975).
- ⁷⁴A. Garscadden, Appl. Phys. Lett. 8, 85 (1966).
- ⁷⁵M. Sato, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 11, 445 (1971); 13, 9 (1973).
- ⁷⁶L. N. Guskov, V. P. Sologub, and B. I. Troshin, Opt. Spektrosk, 40, 170 (1976) [Opt, Spectrosc, (USSR) 40, 94 (1976)].
- ⁷⁷Yu. G. Zakharenko and V. E. Privalov, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 44, 1562 (1974) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 19, 980 (1975)].
- ⁷⁸Yu. G. Zakharenko and V. E. Privalov, Avtometriya No. 6, 99 (1974).
- ⁷⁹Im Tkhek-de and V. P. Timofeev, Zh. Prikl. Spektrosk. 23, 624 (1975).
- ⁸⁰U. G. Zakharenko and V. E. Privalov, Opt. Spektrosk. 27, 821 (1969) [Opt. Spectrosk. (USSR) 27, 447 (1969)].
- ⁸¹V. E. Privalov, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 41, 1682 (1971) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 16, 1324 (1972)].
- ⁸²M. N. Burnashev, Yu. G. Zakharenko, and V. E. Privalov, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved., Radiofiz 18, 1638 (1975).
- ⁸³V. E. Privalov and Ya. A. Fofanov, Pis' ma Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 4, 282 (1978) [Sov. Tech. Phys. Lett. 4, 116 (1978)].
- ⁸⁴K. Rohlena and T. Ruzinchka, in: XI ICPIG. Invited Papers, Prague, 1973.
- ⁸⁵M. Novak, Czech. J. Phys. B10, 954 (1960).
- ⁸⁶A. A. Zaitsev, I. A. Savchenko, and V. V. Il'inskii, in: XII ICPIG, Eindhoven, 1975, p. 123.
- ⁸⁷M. N. Burnashev, V. E. Privalov, Ya. A. Fofanov, Opt. Spektrosk. 42, 456 (1977) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 42, 256 (1977)].
- ⁸⁸J. J. Stoker, Nonlinear Vibrations in Mechanical and Electrical Systems, Interscience, New York, 1950 (Russ, Transl. IL, Moscow, 1953).
- ⁸⁹P. A. Pavlov and V. E. Privalov, Radiotekh. Elektron. 24, 1827 (1979).
- ⁹⁰A. A. Zaitsev and G. S. Leonov, Radiotekh. Elektron. 10, 913 (1965).
- ⁹¹P. S. Landa and Yu. V. Ponomarev, Pis'ma Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 1, 758 (1975) [Sov. Tech. Phys. Lett. 11, 331 (1975)].
- ⁹²P. S. Landa and Yu. V. Ponomarev, Radiotekh. Elektron. 21, 2337 (1976),
- ⁹³A. A. Zaitsev, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 84, 41 (1952).
- ³⁴A. A. Zaitsev, V. V. Il'inskii, and L A. Savchenko, Radiotekh. Elektron. 23, 866 (1978).
- ⁹⁵K. F. Teodorchik, Avtokolebatel' nye sistemy (Self-Excited Oscillatory Systems), Gostekhizdat, Moscow, 1952.
- ⁹⁶P. S. Landa, Avtokolebaniya v sistemakh s konechnym chislom stepenei svobody (Self-Excited Oscillations in Systems with a Finite Number of Degrees of Freedom), Nauka, Moscow, 1980.
- ⁹⁷V. Safonov, Thesis, Physics Faculty, Moscow State University, 1974.
- ⁹⁸P. Neubert, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 42, 1454 (1913).
- ⁹⁹J. Mierdel, in: Handbuch d. Experimental Physik 13, 313 (1923).
- 100A. Günterschulze and H. Meinhardt, Z. Phys. 110, 95 (1938). ¹⁰¹M. J. Druyvesteyn and F. M. Penning, Rev. Mod. Phys. 12,
- 87 (1940).
- ¹⁰²G. Francis, in: Handbuch der Physik, Berlin 22, 119 (1956).
- ¹⁰³F. M. Penning, Z. Phys. 41, 769 (1927).
- ¹⁰⁴W. H. McCurdy and P. Dalton, Phys. Rev. 27, 163 (1926).

- ¹⁰⁵N. A. Karelina and B. N. Klyarfel'd, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 18, 1235 (1948).
- ¹⁰⁶N. D. Twiddy, Proc. R. Soc. Ser. A 262, 379 (1961).
- ¹⁰⁷N. D. Twiddy, Proc. R. Soc. Ser. A 275, 338 (1963).
- ¹⁰⁸Yu. M. Kagan and N. K. Mitrofanov, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 41, 2065 (1971) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 16, 1636 (1972)].
- ¹⁰⁹T. Ruzicka, Czech. J. Phys. B18, 928 (1968).
- ¹¹⁰R. G. Fowler, Phys. Rev. 84, 145 (1951).
- ¹¹¹S. Pfau and A. Rutscher, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig), 6, 244 (1960).
- ¹¹²M. Sicha, V. Vesely, J. Studnicka, J. Prostejovsky, and M. Novak, Czech. J. Phys. B12, 919 (1962).
- ¹¹³P. Heymann, H. Prinzler, and O. Stirand, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 5, 343 (1965).
- ¹¹⁴S. Pfau, Wiss. Zt. EMA-Univ., 1963, Vols. 3-4, p. 271.
- ¹¹⁵A. A. Zaitsev and N. A. Miskinova, Radiotekh. Elektron. 12, 1318 (1967).
- ¹¹⁶A. A. Zaitsev and Kh. A. Dzherpetov, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 24, 516 (1953).
- ¹¹⁷H. H. Paul, Z. Phys. 97, 330 (1935).
- ¹¹⁸O. V. Prudkovskaya, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 117, 601 (1957) [Sov. Phys. Dokl. 2, 521 (1958)].
- ¹¹⁹A. V. Nedospasov and Yu. B. Ponomarenko, Teplofiz. Vys. Temp. 3, 17 (1965).
- ¹²⁰A. V. Nedospasov, in: Proc. Symposium on MHD, Salzburg, 1966, Vol. 2, p. 345.
- ¹²¹Yu. M. Kagan and R. I. Lyagushchenko, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 34, 1873 (1964) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 9, 1445 (1965)].
- ¹²²Yu. R. Alanakyan, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 45, 679 (1975) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 20, 426].
- ¹²³Yu. R. Alanakyan and L. A. Mikhalev, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 45,
- 1809 (1975) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 20, 1152].
- ¹²⁴A. A. Valsov and I. P. Bazarov, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 20, 1098 (1950).
- ¹²⁵Yu. L. Klimontovich, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 21, 1284, 1292 (1951).
- ¹²⁶R. Winkler, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 10, 79 (1970).
- ¹²⁷L Rohlena, L. Pekarek, and T. Ruzicka, Czech. J. Phys. B22, 920 (1972).
- ¹²⁸V. Perina, K. Rohlena, and T. Ruzicka, Czech, J. Phys. B25, 660 (1975).
- ¹²³K. Rohlena, T. Ruzicka, and L. Pekarek, Phys. Lett. A40, 239 (1972).
- 130 Yu. R. Alanakyan, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 47, 542, 1177 (1977) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 22, 328, 676 (1977)].
- ¹³¹D. W. Swain and S. C. Brayn, Phys. Fluids 14, 53 (1971).
- ¹³²A. V. Nedospasov and V. G. Petrov, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 44, 53
- (1974) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 19, 31 (1974)].
- ¹³³P. S. Landa, Yu. V. Ponomarev, and V. N. Sadovskii, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved., Radiofiz. 21, 1691 (1978).
- ¹³⁴P. A. Landa and Yu. V. Ponomarev, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved., Radiofiz., 22, 1265 (1979).
- ¹³⁵P. S. Landa and Yu. V. Ponomarev, in: XIII ICPIG. Contributed Papers, Berlin, 1971, Part 1, p. 279.
- ¹³⁶P. S. Landa and Yu. V. Ponomarev, J. Phys. (Paris) 40, C7-223 (1979).
- ¹³⁷P. S. Landa, Radiotekh. Elektron. 25, 872 (1980).
- ¹³⁸P. S. Landa, N. A. Miskinova, and Yu. V. Ponomarev, Radiotekh. Elektron. 25, 785 (1980).
- ¹³⁹L. S. Landa, N. A. Miskinova, and Yu. V. Ponomarev, cited in Ref. 135, p. 277.
- ¹⁴⁰A. B. Mikhaiovskii, Teoriya plazmennykh neustoichivostei, Atomizdat, Moscow, 1975 (Theory of Plasma Instabilities, Plenum, New York).
- ¹⁴¹A. I. Akhiezer and R. V. Polovin, "Absolute, convective, and global instabilities; amplification and blocking of oscillations," Preprint ITF-70-96 R, Academy of Science of the Ukraninian SSR, Kiev, 1970.
- ¹⁴²L. Pekarek, K. Masek, and K. Rohlena, Czech, J. Phys. B B20, 879 (1970).
- ¹⁴³Ohe and S. Takeda, J. Phys. D11, 2257 (1978).

- 144 I. P. Stakhanov, A. S. Stepanov, V. P. Pashchenko, and Yu. K. Gus'kov, Fizicheskie osnovy termoemissionnogo preobrazovaniya energii (Basic Physics of Thermionic Energy Conversion), Atomizdat, Moscow, 1973.
- ¹⁴⁵A. I. Loshdarev, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 44, 2109 (1974) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 19, 1308 (1975)].
- ¹⁴⁶M. G. Damanin and A. L Loshkarev, Tr. MFTI. Ser. Radiotekhn. Elektron. 183 (1976).
- 147 V. L. Granovskii, Elektricheskii tok v gaze (Electric Currents in Gases), Nauka, Moscow, 1971.
- ¹⁴⁸S. C. Brown, Basic Data of Plasma Physics, MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1959 (Russ. Transl. Gosatomizdat,
- Moscow, 1961). ¹⁴⁹S. M. Levitskii, in: Sbornik zadach i raschetov po fizcheskoi elektronike (Collected Problems and Calculations in Physical Electronics), Izd. KGU, Kiev, 1964.
- ¹⁵⁰K. S. Mustafin, Vestn. LGU No. 22, 130 (1960).
- ¹⁵¹A. J. Ducan and J. R. Forrest, Phys. Fluids 14, 1973 (1971).
- ¹⁵²A. V. Nedospasov, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 28, 173 (1958) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 3, 163 (1958)].
- ¹⁵³M. S. Gorelik and L. D. Tsendin, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 43, 760 (1973); 44, 1405 (1973) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 18, 478 (1973); 19, 880 (1975)].
- ¹⁵⁴R. Ya. Kogan and O. I. Fisun, Ukr, Fiz. Zh. 18, 1104 (1973).
- ¹⁵⁵V. I. Karpman, Nelineinye volny v dispergiruyushchikh sredakh (Nonlinear Waves in Dispersive Media), Nauka, Moscow, 1973.
- ¹⁵⁶Yu. S. Bogdankevich, M. V. Kuzelev, and A. A. Rukhadze, "Microwave plasma electronics," Preprint No. 95, Lebedev Physics Institute, Moscow, 1979.
- ¹⁵⁷A. V. Gaponov, L. A. Ostrovskii, and M. I. Rabinovich, Izv. Vyssh, Uchebn. Zaved., Radiofiz. 13, 163 (1970).
- ¹⁵⁸I. M. Chapnik, Radiotekh. Elektron. 13, 1085 (1968).
- ¹⁵⁹E. Jahnke, F. Emde, and F. Lösch, Table of Higher Functions, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1960 (Russ. Transl. Nauka, Moscow, 1977).
- ¹⁶⁰E. I. Yakubovich, in: Nelineinye volyn (Nonlinear Waves) (ed. A. V. Gaponov-Grekhov), Nauka, Moscow, 1979, p. 62.
- ¹⁶¹A. A. Zaitsev and M. Ya. Vasil'eva, Radiotekh. Elektron. 7, 557, (1962).
- ¹⁶²A. V. Nedospasov and I. Ya. Shipuk, Teplofiz. Vys. Temp. 3, 186 (1965).
- ¹⁶³V. N. Belousov, V. V. Eliseev, and I. Ya. Shipuk, Cited in Ref. 120, p. 323.
- ¹⁶⁴I. Ya. Shipuk and S. V. Pashkin, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSR 176, 1278 (1967) [Sov. Phys. Dokl. 12, 959 (1968)].
- ¹⁶⁵W. Riedmüller, in: Electricity from MHD, Vol. 1, Vienna, 1968.
- ¹⁶⁶E. E. Zukoski and R. R. Gilpin, Phys. Fluids 10, 1974 (1967).
- ¹⁶⁷J. F. Louis, in: Intern. Symposium on MHD, Electrical Power Generation, Warsaw, Paper SM-107/50.
- ¹⁶⁸A. H. Nelson and M. G. Haines, Plasma Phys. 11, 811 (1969). ¹⁶³S. Shimoda and L Heruya, in: Twelfth Nat. Symposium on
- Engineering Aspects of MHD, Argonne, Illinois, 1972; Russ. Transl. in: Pryamoe preobrazovanie teplovoi energii v elektricheskuyu i toplivnye elementy (Direct Conversion of Heat into Electrical Energy; Fuel Cells), No. 3, 28, 1973.
- ¹⁷⁰E. P. Velikhov and A. M. Dykhne, Cited in Ref. 44, p. 511.
- ¹⁷¹J. L. Kerrebrock, AIAA J. 2, 1072 (1964).
- ¹⁷²V. S. Golubev, G. A. Kasabov, and V. F. Konakh, Teplofiz, Vys. Temp. 2, 493 (1964).
- ¹⁷³Yu. M. Volkov, Teplofiz. Vys. Temp. 3, 3 (1965).
- ¹⁷⁴O. A. Sinkevich, Dokl. Akad. Nauk 213, 315 (1973) [Sov. Phys. Dokl. 18, 721 (1974)].
- ¹⁷⁵O. A. Sinkevich, Teplofiz. Vys. Temp. 13, 53 (1975); 15, 486 (1977).
- ¹⁷⁶O. A. Sinkevich, Prikl. Mat. Mekh. 38, 656 (1974).
- ¹⁷⁷V. G. Andropov and O. A. Sinkevich, Teplofiz. Vyz. Temp. 12, 1 (1974).
- ¹⁷⁸R. M. Evans and C. H. Kruger, AIAA J. 11, 1006 (1973).
- ¹⁷⁹A. A. Vedenov and E. P. Velikhov, cited in Ref. 120, p. 395.

- ¹⁸⁰Yu. A. Kareev, V. G. Karpukhin, and A. V. Nedospasov, cited in Ref. 165, p. 239.
- ¹⁸¹A. M. Dykhne, cited in Ref. 165, Vol. 1, p. 335.
- ¹⁶²E. P. Velikhov, Yu. D. Zemtsov, A. S. Kovalev, I. G. Persiantsev, A. T. Rakhimov, and V. D. Pis'mennyi, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 67, 1682 (1974) [Sov. Phys. JETP 40, 837].
- ¹⁸³W. L. Nighan, W. J. Wiegand, and R. A. Haas, Appl. Phys. Lett. 22, 579 (1973).
- ¹⁶⁴W. L. Nighan and W. J. Wiegand, Phys. Rev. A10, 922 (1974).
- ¹⁶⁵D. H. Douglas-Hamilton and S. A. Mani, Appl. Phys. Lett. 23, 508 (1973).
- ¹⁸⁶D. H. Douglas-Hamilton and S. A. Mani, J. Appl. Phys. 45, 4406 (1974).
- ¹⁸⁷R. A. Haas, Phys. Rev. A8, 1017 (1973).
- ¹⁸⁸G. D. Myl'nikov and A. P.Napartovich, Fiz. Plazmy 1, 892 (1975) [Sov. J. Plasma Phys. 1, 486 (1975)].
- ¹⁸⁹Yu. R. Alanakyan and B. V. Vainer, Zh. Tekh. Flz. **43**, 698 (1973) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. **18**, 441 (1973)].
- ¹⁹⁰ P. S. Landa, Fiz. Plazmy 5, 1365 (1979) [Sov. J. Plasma Phys. 5, 764 (1979)].
- ¹⁹¹A. A. Zaitsev, and Kh. A. Dzherpetov, Dokl. Akas. Nauk 89, 825 (1953).
- ¹⁹²A. A. Zaltsev and She-Midon, Vestn. MGU. Ser. Fiz., Astr.

No. 4, 98 (1966).

- ¹³⁸A. A. Zaitsev, V. V. I'inskii, and T. V. Bragina, cited in Ref. 135, p. 297.
- ¹⁹⁴A. V. Nedospasov, K. I. Éfendiev, and A. I. Bezhanova, Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 45, 1519, 1659 (1975) [Sov. Phys. Tech. Phys. 20, 963, 1056].
- ¹⁹⁵K. I. Éfendiev and A. I. Bezhanova, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved., Radiofiz. 18, 777 (1975).
- ¹⁹⁶A. Zakrzewski, Kopiczynski, N. Lubanski, J. Studnicka, and M. Sicha, Czech. J. Phys. B26, 992 (1976).
- ¹³⁷M. Sato, Phys. Lett. A28, 555 (1969).
- ¹⁹⁸M. Sato, Beitr. Plasmaphys. 9, 371 (1969).
- ¹⁹⁹A. V. Nedospasov, K. I. Éfendiev, and G. I. Garibov, Teplofiz. Vys. Temp. 9, 22 (1971).
- ²⁰⁰M. Sato and Y. Hatta, Appl. Phys. Lett. 9, 423 (1966).
- ²⁰¹H. N. Ewald, F. W. Crawford, and S. A. Self, Phys. Fluids 12, 303, 316 (1969).
- ²⁰²H. Murlak, Z. Zakrzewski, and Z. Nemeczek, in: XII ICPIG, Prague, 1975, p. 122.
- ²⁰³A. I. Duncan, J. R. Forrest, F. W. Crawford, and S. A. Self, Phys. Fluids 14, 1959 (1971).
- ²⁰⁴A. Rutscher, Naturwissenschaften 45, 54 (1958).

Translated by Dave Parsons